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PREFACE

Ours is a family of soldiers. While serving the ‘'kKhalsa
Fauj’' my forefathers fought against the British at Mudki and
Fherushehr. On the other hand, my grandfather fought for the
British while serving in the then Indian army in France and
Middle East. My father, too, served in the army and took
part in all military operations which the Indian army
undertook in post-independence period, including the 1971
Indo-Pak war. As a serving officer with mmilitary familial
background I was fortunate to be in uniform and in the field
during the 1971 Indo-Pak War, and as recently as 1990-92
part of the ongoing counter—Insurgency operations | in
Kashmir. I obviously tend to have deep interest in military

history.

Despite making history in the Indian sub-continent, the
people of Panjab have shown scant interest in recording
their military accomplishments. As a student of history, 1
have been fascinated by the meteoric rise of Maharaja Ranjit
Singh, who for the first time in a millennium, stopped

invasions into India from across the kKhyber. At the same

time, he also halted the march of the British - the
mightiest imperial power of the nineteenth century - into
Panjab. I have wondered, how his power ful kingdom

disintegrated within a decade of his death. My interest in

the subject made me select the topic Military Campaigns__of

Maharaja_ _Ranjit Singh_ _and under_ _his Successors for my

SOMID GO0 GRS SSUTD CUEES SOIRG L K X N __ N _ ¥ __J IS SOAND SIS CENED CRASS GRPS SOSOY NS COUED SNEPD GOOUS CONID SRLAD ARUIE SIS GRS SRS AMISS SRS SEUUS SO) GIINS NS NSNS SANGS JEANY GINDG GINED ERDGS NGNS ASEKE BINLS SRS SIS SN SRS



doctoral thesis. This research has, indeed, been rewarding
as 1t has given me an insight into my rookts and a better

understanding of both the weaknesses and strengths of the

peaple af FPunjab.

It would not have been possible for me to write this
thesis without the able guidance, active help and constant

sncouragement from my supervisor Dr 6§.5. Dhillon, Professor,

Department of Evening Studies, Panjab University,

Chandigarh.

1 am deeply indebted to Dr Indu Banga, Professor aof
History, Panjab University, Chandigarh, for her keen
interest and help in my research work. She gave me valuable

suggestions and much needed inspiration to undertake this

study.

I am also thankful to Dr Kiran Pawar, former Chairman
of the Department of History at the Panjab University for
her constant encouragement. My thanks are also due o Dr
J.K. Sharma, the present Chairman, Department of History,

Panjab University, Chandigarh, for his useful suggestions

and unstinting cooperation.

I Further take the opportunity ta thank all those who

affered their help generously for the completion of this

study, ohom I am unable to record here individually for

constraints of space.
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Maharaja Hanjit Singh has been a subject of abiding

grn, who wrote

;
fde

interest to scholars,; both Indian and fore

about him continucously not only during his life time, but

alsa  thereaftter. The earliest accounts on Sikhs are
avallahble from reports of British Intelligence gatherers

of  the 18th  century such Folier, Erowne and Forster

i
i

followed by reporting on Sikh g the Fingdom of HRamjit

HH
i

Sirmgh by British officials who were interacting with His
Hingdom in their official capacity in the 19tk century, such
G Malcolm, Metcalfe, WMade, Murray and Firinsem. af

the tenth chapter of Frinsep's
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particular  sig
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wipr ks sntitled TOrigin gf the Bikk Powge 4 Ehe PuRiak

which containg  an account of Bentick's meeting with FRanjit

mingh, based on his own ohservations., Besides, there arse
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reporrts of travellers and wvisitors to the Fingdom  of

e

L.ahore- such as Moorcroft, Jacquemont, Honigberger, Hugel,
Murray, Henry Fane and Osborne. Apart from these, there are

the "Diaries’ of Mohan Lal and Shahamat Al recording their

first hand observations of the Sikh  Fingdom. The court
diarist Sohan Lal  Suri "= Umndast-Ut-Tawarikh i five

1771-184% of which 17711812 was recorded by his father Lalsa
Gampat Rai and events during 1812-184%9 were recorded by

documents and
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contain & continuous eyve-witness record of nearly eighty
YEA E ., The original narrative of the first Anglo-Sikhb
campaign, of October 1845 to February 1844 was borrowed by

Lir Horhert Edwards at the time when he met LLala Sohan Lal

&

atter the Campalgn. It wa=z= not retwned and wazs not

availahbhle.
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Jangnama_Shah Mohammad (Punjabi) (1846) is an account
in verse of the 1845-46 War between the British and the Sikh
armies. It is believed to have been witten in the second
half of 1846, so it is a near contemporary chronicle of the
conflict. The poet admirably condenses the momentous events
into 1@5 bunds. Shah Mohammad eulogises the valour and
patriotism of the Sikh soldiers but exposes the treachery of
their Generals and Wazirs and Rani Jindan. In bund 92, he
laments that victory was turned into defeat by the doings of
the traitors. He remarks; °‘Shah Mohammda_ ik sarkar bajhon,

faujan_ _Jjitke _ant noon haryian_ne’ (Shah Mohammad, for want

SO0 MNS RETR 0008 OEAT ANNS SONRE GIiED G SEINED SHIPD GUEINY ARSSD GRINN CERED MG SIIN VORD SRMNP TROUD SOWID R00S Ghind GhENE W00 CERNS SEID

of a Leader such as Ranjit Singh, the victorious Khalsa

army had to taste defeat).

Joseph Davey Cunningham, a Lieutenant from the
Engineérs, was towards the end of 1837, appointed assistant
to the Political Agent at Ludhiana. His ‘History _of__the
Sikhs' (1849) is a contemporary account of the period "1837-
1846°. He holds the view that War with the 8Sikhs resulted
from provocation by the British Officials and was won in
collaboration with the sel f seeking Sikh chiefs.
Cunningham’'s work is a general history of the Sikhs, where
he sees them as an emerging nationality, congenial to social

change. His work advocated forbearance towards the Sikhs,

not their annexation and elimination as a nation.

The Works of relevance to the present study written in
the 20th century include among others; Sita Ram KkKohli's
Catalogue_ _of Khalsa Darbar Records (1919) giving in detail
the strength, composition and the working of the army
administration of Ranjit Singh. Gulshan Lall Chopra’s The

Punjab as_a_Sovereign_State : (1928) was a doctoral thesis,

for which the author was awarded Ph.D degree by the London
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University. It is divided into six chapters. The first
chapter traces the unification of Punjab by Ranjit Singh
according to a definite policy of consoclidation. The second
chapter deals with Ranjit Singh’'s relations with Afghans and
the British. The third chapter gives an account of Ranjit
Singh’'s army and the fourth deals with his administration.
The fifth chapter is about his Court and Camp. The sixth
chapter attempts an assessment of Ranjit Singh.

N K 8Sinha in Ranjit Singh (1933) has elucidated with
great care Ranjit Singh’'s rule and relationships with other
FPowers of the region without delving in greater detail into
the military strategy of the British in their incursion into

Punjab in 1844-49.

Sita Ram Kohli in Maharaja Ranjit Singh (Punjabi)
(1953) has written a biography of Ranjit Singh. It traces
the origin of Ranjit Singh’'s Kingdom from the Misl era. In
twenty brief chapters, it gives an account of the Maharaja’'s
rule. The last two chapters sum up his personality and
achievements. The author attributed the end of the Sikh rule
within a decade of Ranjit Singh’'s death to the concentration
of all power in the hands of the Maharaja himself and the
lack of a setup that could sustain the rule after he
disappeared from the scene. He also hints that the British
all along had an eye on the Maharaja’s dominions and after
his death, they grabbed them and annexed Punjab.

History of_the Punjab (From the Remotest antiquity to

the present time) (188%9) by Syad Muhammad Latif; Life_ _and

CHSUs SOGh: CELES GENMS SOEDG Speee LK B X X X X _ X _N__XK_ _ X ___X___ % 2 _ J

five volumes by Hari Ram Gupta are general histories which
also deal with the battles fought by Ranjit 8Singh. These

however leave enough scope to do a separate study on the
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campaigns of Ranjit Singh and his successors.

The crucial chapters in the book The_khalsa Raj (1985)

SHMP COuMS JOOTD GNP SPDNN GBOED WNMED SR GIBED SANED CBuNG CUPES SIS

by AC BRaner jee are : Ranjit Singh : War and Diplomacy : and
Ranjit 8ingh : Government and Army. Tha author rightly
remarks that but for Ranjit Singh’'s political foresight and
military enterprise Kashmir would not have been an Indian
territory today, and the North-West frontier areas would
have remained a part of Afghanistan. The author commends
Ranjit Singh’'s diplomatic skills, realistic approach, and
statesmanship. He concludes "Single men sometimes personify
in themselves the process of historical change. Ranjit Singh
belonged to this exceptional category. No Sikh inherited

even a small fraction of his talent,” (p 249). Hence Ranjit

Singh’'s Kingdom perished within a decade of his death.

Ferozshah, Sobraon of 1845-46 period; and Multan
Chillianwalla and QBujarat of 1848-49 period. He has
discussed the battles, the number of army units involved,
their tactics and British strategy all are discussed in
detail. The contribution of the smaller British contingent

Vis a Vis much larger British native army compliment was

understandably exaggerated.

In The _BSikhs_and _the Sikh Wars, General Sir Charles
Gough and Arthur D Innes have written a campaign military
history giving full credit to Lord Gough's leadership of the
British forces and justification to his direction of both
the Anglo-Sikh campaigns. Their one sided Pro-British views
on history may well be gauged from a sample of their writing

on Sind. "The British had no idea of conquering Scinde, of

attacking the Punjab, or of actively interfering with
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Afghanistan. But their minds were bent on commercial
development... "if only the Indus could be guaranteed 1like
the Ganges as an open waterway.” (p 38). Gough, because of
casualties to the British Officers and men during the Anglo
8ikh campaigns had received a good amount of bad press.
Infact after Chillianwala, his replacement too was
despatched from England. As the authors put it, "Lord Gough
made a point, not only of refusing to answer his critics in
the Press, but of forbidding his friends to do it for him

(Preface). The book is an answer to that criticism.

Fauja Singh in the Military System of the Sikhs (1964)
has based his observations on Sita Ram Kohli ‘s extensively
collected data and other works of the time to give an
analytical insight into the organisation and composition of
the ©Sikh army. He has gone into the academic merits of
tactics and strategy. There is a need to link the national
objectives of Ranjit Singh Vis a Vis the objectives of the
British, because strategy flows from national objective and
the 1linkage between these is indispensable. Fauja 8ingh
obviously could not have the benefit of later Works such as
‘Civil and Military Affairs of Maharaja Ranjit Singh’ ((1987)

written by J8 Grewal and Indu BRanga; and French

Administrators of Maharaja Ranjit Singh’ (1988) by Jean

Marie Lafont.

SURSS GFOUP MUY SHERE VNS EUNGR VHESS ARSSS SDUL JNNGS SONNE SUNED SIRGH SONDR S0G0E SOARS SNOES CUONS JUND SUCSS SUNIS AMESP SSURS SINGS SEEEN G00NS S0GN0 AUIRl S4UES JNGED 4NNGD SNIGS LGNS SARND SDNSS AERSS SONIR AW SERS Sl SNt QUM SPUSS SHOIR GERE ANOES

(1987) by JS Grewal and Indu Banga is a collection of Royal
orders (Parwanas) that give an insight into the working of
Ranjit Singh’'s day—-to-day military administration. They
highlight the great military qualities of Ranjit 8ingh and
his meticulous attention to details in each and every

aspect ‘military’. These orders also indicate how he kept



b
himself in touch with the army’'s administration by
appointing "Akhbar nawis’ and how he placed ‘harkaras’
between Peshawar and Lahore, thus getting information within
a day, and also we learn about his countermanding orders
given by Prince Nau Nihal 8S8ingh in command of the army at
FPeshawar to ‘Kampu—-a—-Mualla® under Tej 8Singh at Rohtas.
This collection of orders helps us to know how Ranjit 8Singh
functioned. These orders confirm the view that Ranjit Singh
had a systematic bent of mind, who went into minutest

details , which are hallmarks of a military genius.

Jean Marie Lafont in FErench Administrators _of Maharaja
Ranjit__8ingh (1988) has described the military, business,
administrative and political cum diplomatic activities of
the French officers employed by Ranjit 8Singh from 1822
onwards. The first chapter : 'military activities of French
officers of Maharaja Ranjit Singh’, throws light, on how
meticulous care and personal indulgence of Ranjit 8ingh,
alone, permitted the training of ‘Fauj—-i-khas’ to a standard
of discipline, otherwise absent in the people of Punjab, at
large. The business activities of the French officers and
their ‘Jagirs’ South of river Satluj bring out, how well
these officers were compromised from fighting against the
British. For one reason or the other these officers departed
from the Punjab well before the Anglo-8Sikh campaigns. The
chapter on political cum diplomatic activities shows how
Jealously the Rritish guarded their interests by
discouraging any interaction between Lahore and any other
country, except the British in India.

The biographies, general histories of Ranjit Singh and

those of the Sikhs, the books on Anglo Sikh wars all have

touched upon the campaigns, but they leave enough scope to
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do a study for Ph.D. thesis. Accordingly, the present study
Under _his Successors has therefore, been undertaken to
examine the diplomatic and military strategies employed by
Ranjit S8Singh and his Successors, in consolidating their
power and defending their rule against the designs of the
Afghans and the British.

Chambers dictionery defines campaign as ‘an organised
series of operations in the advocacy of some cause or
object’; Collins dictionery defines campaign as ‘'a planned
set of activities that people deliberately carry out over a
period of time in order to produce a particular result’.
The Oxford English dictionery defines it as ‘'a group of
military operations with a set purpose usually in one area’
as also ‘series of planned activities to gain a special
object’. From all this it emerges that an object, a cause
and a result are ingredients of a campaign. These have
therefore been included in analysis of each campaign. A
nation may fight one campaign or a number of campaigns to
win or lose a war. War means fighting between two nations
and since campaigns are one facet of it, similarly diplomacy
is another. Thus war and diplomacy are the two means
available to any nation to achieve its objective and aims.
When diplomacy fails, a nation either modifies its
objectives or goes to war. Collins has defined diplomacy as
‘the management of relations between countries’. Thus it
will not be wrong to say that management of relations
between two nations demands that each achieve its objective
by diplomacy, failing which it should be prepared for war.
Thus any study of military campaigns of Ranjit 8ingh and
under his successors will not be complete, if not preceded

by a study of the diplomacy which either avoided war or
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caused 1it. Campaigns as already mentioned are only an
outcome of a decision to go to war. The battle is the actual
fighting involved in a campaign. There can be more than one

battle in a campaign which may lead to victory or defeat.

The present topic has been treated as a subject of

‘History' and not limited in its enquiry by the scope of a

"Military History' which Michael Howard defines as the
1

history of armed forces and the conduct of war. Though the

campaigns by virtue of the topic, remain the centre of
focus, but what happened bevond the campaigns, has been
included for a balanced examination of the subject in its

fuller historical context. The study broadly tackles the

topic in the following sequence :-—

One, Introduction;y Two, Land and Peopleg Three,
Historical BRackground and Early Career of Ranjit 8ingh;
Four, Unification of Punjab; Five, Expansion of Punjab
Frontiers; ©S5ix, 0Organisation and Training of the Army;
Seven, Ranjit Singh - A Military Assessment; Eight, Post
Ranjit Singh Environment in Punjab; Nine, Campaigns Under

Successors and Ten, Conclusion.

COPEP SETUO TUNEE TONEE HHISE S0GTE PENIE SODI GHEGT SOV SOTOE TS SRIDE WIS SEGOE CODER SUUTE SIGET CAEES ESUE SHUSE TOGOE SIICE THGSP SEEE SUNES LEUSE PO SOUTE SETLE Sheth SEGE LN CASUT I SERES SHTOS TOGEE LOTUE RN CHENE IS TOLOU GOTIR OIS GNNSE SHGHE BB SIS TEED 4RSS TECKE SEOGT GUUNE SESES HOEL SERED SIS SPURE SPUIE SNGRE SIS SN SLOne Mbees

1. Juliet Gardiner (Editor), What is History Today 7. 1988

p - 4, quoting Michael Howard; "What is Military History 7"
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CHAFTER - 11

THE LAND AND THE FEOFLE

The land where Ranjit Singh came to reign supreme, the
lingdom of Lahore as it came to be called, extended from

Longitude 71 degree to 77 degree and Latitude 28 degrese to

1
S8 degree. The Hindu Fush mountasins and the Bulaiman range
from  the west to the high Himalavyas in the HMorth  runming
Morth West to South Easty all together formed a mighty
<%
Some
natwral horse shoe arcund the plains of Funjab. L.ahore was
almost  at the centre of thi=s region. To the MNorth of
L.ahaore, in the high Himalayvas is the Farakoram range. South

of the Farakoram range flows the 2148 kilometers long Indus

it

river in the sha aft & left handed =ickle. It flows through

0
1
H

Attock, & point midway bhetween the towns of Feshawar and

Rawalpindi. Attock iz alsoc the place where river FHabul meets
the Indus. Qther major rivers such a=s Jhelum, Chenab,

gradient of the land. Thelr =seaszonal floods  brought in
1a S0 Cunningham, History of _the Sikhs, p 1
g The land derives its name Funjab from two Fersian

words, Funj or Fanj {(five) and a’'bh {(water), after the five
rivers, Jhelum, Chenab, Ravi, Beas and Satlui by keeping
Indus out of the count, for Indus until then was forming the
western boundary of this land. In the present day this area
is part of Fakistan except Sind, Fakistan Occupied Fashmir,
Jammu  and  Kashmir, Funjab, Himachal Fradesh and parts of
Haryana.

R Syed Mubhammed Latif, in Hi
writes,

" The gradient is regular and gradual, the cities of
l.ahore and Amritsar are each 0@ feet ABL and Mithan Kot to
the South-West is 220 feet ASL. The unbhroken flatness of
the swface causes freguent and extensive changes 1in the
courses of the great rivers. Thus one of the mnalas in  the
low, sandy country between the Satluj and Ludhiana wazs the
lhied of the river Sutluj in the early nineteenth century. It
now  flows 11 kilometers North of Ludhiana. The Satluj 1s
specially apt to change its course, but the tendency to
desert their channels is characteristic of most of the
rivers of the Funjah'.

(p.12)

in
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i
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ENEE TOIEE HEGET ENEE SERST SESE SEGEN SIS GERAE SEEEe SPeee
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fresh alluvial soil making the land fertile. It is a well
known historical legacy of Punjab that the very rich erops

and resultant prosperity were the cause of many on invasion

from the North West over the Khyber and Bolan FPasses.

The kingdom of Lahore consisted of either broad plains
of FPunjab or mountain ranges; it possesses every variety of
climate and every kind of natural produce. Ladakh in the
North had a 1long hard winter with snow cover for many
months. In this area Leh was an important town. S8Skardu as
the crow flies was 200 kilometers North-West of Leh, that is
a good 30 kilometers down stream from the junction of Shyok
and Indus. This region was also called Raltistan. Gilgit was
further 150 kilometers from Skardu in the same North-
Westerly direction. The region was mostly rocky, with sparse
vegetation along the river valleys. The locals grew wheat

1

and barley for food. The mountain goat provided the famous

wool for shawls. It was worth about one lakh rupees in the

2

then market of Ludhiana. Cunningham, in ‘'History of the
Sikhs' mentions that the locals and Chinese carried on a
brisk business of exchange of opium from India with superior

quality charrus from Yarkand. Eggs of silk worms in Kashmir

S

were imported from Gilgit. Nhile‘Ladakhis were Buddhist,
the people of Baltistan were mostly Muslim. In the South-
West of this region was the Kashmir Valley, which has the
river Kishanganga flowing East to West in the North and the

Fir Panjal range in the South.

BVEE SPEEE SOUDT SENEE VALAY CONRY S0006 SRGDE SDEGE PAUEN INEG SEOES DOSGE SOEE SHIIY MIILS CATEE SRGES SOREE FRESE THINE SUTES EDGR SHENE BINE SRUES SESED CAGSE SEMNE BINIE SEPUE SRCS) SUBED GEGEE HIGWS SIS0 GONET GHEES SIBNE ANRGE ST SEGUS SUNOE GIAN SUEAP SOPEL JECEP SIBGE THGAY NGINN SRESO GSIR SEEER SPNIG AAAGS CAOED SHIBe SRNAR NI

1. Indu Banga, Agrarian System of _the Sikhs, 1978, p 3.

IS CEOES SENE TIBES S60US PONNE WHOES IDIUE SREEE SIS FEUSE SEOOE BIOED GOPIN SHIND CESSE SEGER SEOUE ROUEY SOOUR SEINR SEUIS SROVE SOINE AN

2. Journal Asiatic Society of Bengal, 1844, p 21@.

CUSED NASRS GIIAS BODED SURGE DRSNS SOLED SHENG SEGED DONIS SIBE4 URIAS TS mowe [ e e wotme seset

WEGS) SHLED SOUNE KNS BINGT SOUED SHSES SUGLE BIGHS VOPUY SEIS SERS
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The Kashmir valley proper is 80 kilometers in length

and 8 to 10 kilometers in breadth. It is watered by the

1
tributaries of Jhelum which originate from Wular lake. The

stretch of Jhelum upto Baramulla is navigable and thereafter
the river becomes a mountain stream. On the bank of Jhelum
and lower part of Kishanganga Valley, lived the tribal
people known as kKhakha and the Bamba. Further down the
Jhelum, the Gakhars formed the dominant tribe. The majority
of population in FKashmir was Muslim. Amongst the non-
Muslims were the Kashmiri Pandits, their chief occupation
then was service in civil administration. Much of the
population of Kashmir was concentrated in towns. Some of
the important towns besides Srinagar, Gilgit, Skardu and Leh
were, Anantnag, Raramulla, Sopor , Uri, Garhi and
Muzaffarabad on the Jhelum, Derband, Tarbela and Ghazi on

the Indus while Mansera, Dhamtaur, Nara and Haripur were
2

located in the area between these rivers.
The Indus before meeting the plains at Amb gave
sustenance to the people of Fakli and Hazara. Pakli was the

only area, in the times of Akbar, where mules were bred in

-
h

India. The trans—-Indus territories consisted of the
valleys of Peshawar and kKohat, the lowland of Bannu and the

flood plains of the Indus between Kalabagh and the Panjnad.

BUOEE PHESS SEHGN GPIIS SEPEP SE00 GOTEE LUTHN SHONN CENINE SOBEE SEAER SOIGE SECAS AUNEE CHEGE SPOSE NS TPEEE SOGHE UGS BEED 0G0C SOTEE SOREE GUNGH GHUNN INSE GEGEE SEGRS CURAD BANGH GIMIG GISES CEEUS AECEE GIREE SDLEE SHUNS GEPEe SITER GESEE SERGE SAUNE GID SIS SEGSY CPOGE SERE WHS IS SE0SE COGID GUAEE SIGEE GRNNS JNINE SREGE SEEES SUSbe

1. According to Emperor Jahangir in his memmoires, as told
by Syad Muhammed Latif, in History of the Punjab, (p 5), the
source of the river Rebat (Jhelum) is a fountain in Kashmir
called Virnag. The nmae signifies, in the Hindu language, a
snake and it appears that, at one time, a very large snake
haunted the spot. It is about 20 kos (80 km) from Srinagar.
The river edxpands much when it reaches near the village
FPampur which is 10 kos (4@ km) from the city. Jahangir
after his accession odered the source of Jhelum (Virnag) to
be paved with stones and a garden to be made around it.

2. Indu Banga, Agrarian_ System of the 8Sikhs, 1978 p 3.

VU SIS SEEGE EDEUE TUGUS AN SNAGE SORES CEOEE SEEET SIGEr GRISE YURE SOUER WIEEE SOLEI SOGN PPN SRAGE TEOLE IPIEE FUNET HIUD GHEND UG ABIDS SROYS

e Irfan Habib, An_Atlas of the Mughal Empire, 1982, p 7.

WEGUE SRIEE GUNNE AVIUS SOEES SRET HEEE SIS SSSHE GPUSS SLELT TR SOBEE SUUNE SHVEG GG SUAsh SOBes CROIN GPONG MIGES OO SESRP SR Waen besen asvee
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Fathan tribes were dominant in Feshawar, kKohat and Hannu
including Dera Ismail Khan. Several Jat clans formed nearly
half of the population in Derajat and the Baloochees,
similarly formed half the population in Dera Ghazi Khan.l

The core dominions of the Sikhs extended from the
foothills of the Himalayas to the Rajputana desert in the
South and from the river Jamuna in the East to the Indus in
the West. The entire region presented one uniform level
plain with a number of Doabs (Doab means the area between
two waters). 8Sind Sagar Doab lay between river Indus and
Jhelum, and Cis-Satluj Doab between Jhelum and Satluj.
Todar Mal a minister of Akbar, combined the names of rivers
and coined the name for area between Chenab and Jhelum as
Chaj Doab, the area between Ravi and the Chenab as Rachna
Doab, Beas and Ravi as Bari Doab, between Heas and Satluj as

~

Bist Jullunder Doab.L 0f the five Doabs, BRist Jullunder

Doab was the smallest. In this area there were thousands of

g

X
wells which augmented the rainfall for cultivation. It

was then the granary of Punjab.

Further to the east, the submontane zone parallel to
the Shivaliks, where the hills meet the plains the region
was traversed by innumerable ‘chos’. The Ghaggar almost
midway between the Satluj-Jamuna divide ran itself out in
the sands near Sirsa. The uplands between the river valleys
known as ‘bar’ were comparatively dry and unproductive. This

was a feature— common to all the Doabs.

SASIE 00 FOINS SN0 CONEE SIUS SOHE SROIE YIS SHTOS SUGEE DOIUY TEDIT TTENE AGNR SAONE SHebE PG SEOSE SEPNE SUNAE SUREE SEGSE SOUIE SOPDS SRS NUNIR SR SAGEE JREEE SEGEE POCOS SOPE SIGNE OIS SEGES SETRE NG GASVE ST FOSES ISP BRGNS SRNLS SEANE HENGE DO TUSEE SREGE GRMEE SRR FBEDS SETEE TEGEE TEEID FHISE WIS BHSES LSS ASPEs

AN SEIUS CASUE SORED GORDD SOGIA NIRES CuNae SUEEE POTES LBENE BLUNN SRS SESES SURGE SHENE SR nuw. apne

2. Khushwant 8Singh, History of the Sikhs, Vol 1, pp 3-4,
footnote 1.

Na Indu Banga, Agrarian System of the Sikhs, 1978, p 5.

GEOND SUNES BIED CORSY SO00E SPESE BN WSUHS GO0 BOTEE SE0LY SIS NAGIN FITIN TOBIT SONES SIEGT PICES SN SHSES SOOHE CRAUY SEOYE ANERE MWV

B
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The province of Multan consisted of the lower portion
of the Rari Rachna and the Sindh Sagar Doabs, it included
the areas of Dipalpur, Multan proper Jhang and Muzaffarabad.
It was mainly populated by semi-nomadic tribes. 0Other than

Baloochees, the dominant tribes were Dandpotras, khattars,

Fhokhars and the Karals.

To the North East of Lahore there were a large number
of hill principalities which were Vassals of Ranjit Singh.
The large number was due to the Himalayan ranges being cut
by rivers and their tributaries, into a large number of
valleys separated by high mountain ranges. The important
towns 1in this region were Rilaspur, Suret, Mandi, FkKulu,
Siba, Guler, FKangra, Nurpur Chamba, Bhadarwah,
Handralta(Ramnagar) , Mankot (Ramkot) , Fatankot, Basoli,
Jammu, Bhimber, Kajouri, Chenini, Jasrota and Manawar.
Close to the town of Mandi the lower ranges of the Himalayas
contained inexhaustible beas of fossil salt, limestone,
sandstone, gypsum, and occasionally veins of quart:z. Mandi
also produced iron besides antimony, alum and sulphur.1

These hill principalities were inhabited by Kajput
ruling houses where in some cases their lineage could be
traced back to a couple of centuries. The land owning
families were the Thakurs, but the tillers of the land were
Ghiraths and Kanets. The Gaddis and Gujjars were the
pastoral people. Traders such as the kKhatris, HRanias and
the Brahmins as also several categories of artisans and
craftsmen formed the remainder part of the people living 1in

the hills.

SO $OCEE S00BE TLNDE MTET SOSE GIEED PIGAE SEGER SROGS SEGRA REESE SEGES CONDE SHME SOUSS CESEE TERES SNNPE SEUSE GHSEE WIIND MEVES GONE GPUIR NHIND SEDOS SOOGS0 SROUR SNGAS SURED SEGED PIGGP SESGS SO0BE SOSRE MMM SEESO SO0E MINGD GOUST GO TRLGS SHIAE GBS SSPGE RSN GRS SENED SRLER CS0SS MEGE POCEE TREME CENAS PSUS ShadR SOAMe SRS dmece

Sotor S000s W SIS SEEPE SO0 WIE08 200SE SE4EE SIRGA SOEUE SOT0E PARGN GBBI SRISE CBEEe ABINS metw coens
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There were not many canals in the kingdom of Lahore but
one of note was the Shah Nahr in the upper BRari Doab which
was excavated in the time of Shah Jahan; it was renovated in
part through Kanjit Singh’'s orders. 1t passed through Dina
Nagar, Dharmkot and Majitha, and then branched off to Lahore
while some of its water was brought to Amritsar by a fresh
channel. It was capable of irrigating 70,000 bighas of
land. This area also had a large number of wells. It was

1
probably the best irrigated tract in the Sikh dominions.

The climate of the FKingdom of Lahore represented
extremes of cold and heat, that is biting cold of snow
capped mountains of Ladakh region in the North to the
scorching heat of Multan. In the core dominions too the

mercury touched pretty low in winter and very high in

SUMMer .

The Himalayan tract enjoyed an annual rainfall ranging
from 70 to 120 inches. The plains of the kingdom received
rainfall from the monsoons both from the Arabian Sea and the
Hay of Bengal. Flaces farther from the hills such as
Fatiala, Nabha, Bhatinda, Faridkot, Firozepur and Shahpur
received much less rainfall which varried from place and

vear to year.

The monsoon season, upon which depended the autumn
crops and spring sowings, lasted from the middle of June to
the end of September. The spring harvest was dependent

largely on the winter rains of January. The hot weather

BEEOE 000NE SONIE TENEE SIS CHITE RIS PENLS SISNE TIGE IHGES SECE0 NN SESES GPG0E SE0OT SO PENNE TEERE SOSET BERIE GHSED BNGET KESEE GASEE POTES CHE SG00E GO GOMUE NS AT TEORE SINES GREES GHGNG MANNS NEUER COUDE PERSE SOMIY SIS COPED UGS SO DELEE BEGBE SEUES SLEUN UANES HEGIS SUVIR UEDED SEREG SISLP SRGEN SIGED GEEeE ST Gtuse

1. Foreign/Secret consultations, 28 April 184, No 62 R
Napier 's report on the Shah Nahar or Husli Canal.
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proper began with April. The heat in the summer was intense
and the blowing hot winds called 'loo’ by locals dried up
the vegetation. The Europeans found the heat unbearable,
the natives were however acclimatised over the vyears. By
mid-September the extreme heat of summer became tolerable
and by October nights became cool. Then followed winter
which lasted till end of March. In January the weather was

decidedly cold, sharp frosts were common and water in the

open froze at night.

It was possible for cultivaters in the kingdom of
l.ahore, to gather at least two sets of harvest in a vyear.

1

Tha main rabi crops were wheat, barley and gram. The main

2

kharif cCrops were maize, rice, millets and cotton.
Sugarcane was included in kharif crops, though it took a

vyear to ripen. Several areas were well known for good

3

varieties of rice, kKashmir having as many as seventy five.

Fruit bearing variety of trees, orchards and herbs were
common in the hills of the submontane region and Peshawar
valley. Indigo was grown in Muzaffaragarh and Jallandhar
and saffron in Anantnag and Kishtwar. The fauna of the
province had the reputation of being richer and more varied
than its flora,4 Tigers were found in the forest, and the
line was once not uncommon in the jungle. Camels thrived in
the hot southern plains, and herds of buffaloes on the

grazing lands adjoining the rivers. Horses of excellent

quality were reared in the north east part of the country,

BEBEE FE0GE NEEIUE GIONE S0SGS S000E ALEAE HIORS SO000 SHIOS SEGRE MM BUGOE SONGE SEONA GNP UIUEE 0SS S0000 LESIG MOIUS SOOES C0SEE SOSUR TNNER PEEE SSONE SUNGR SEMUE $OSS0 SOGEE GOBER RREE SEEEE SOGEE SEEES ARG UGE SUGES SEGEE SRS MNdN SE00 SEGDO SOTIS SN MEPES SEE0 SOOUE GAGHE LRI SRED SOS0C SBUNE SREUE GRS BEGGE GBS AN SR

1. The rabi or sprring crops were grown in October-—
November. They were reaped in April-May.
2 The kharif or autumn crops were sown in July and reaped

in October.

~-r

e Indu Banga, Agrarian_ System_of _the Sikhs, 1978, p 8.

B MOMSP SEODS BOSED BINIE GIIN SEOEP SIUSS D GOIOE SGED SRR NENPE SEPES PIDID SE0S GEEId MNMID DOGSD SUADE SUTHE SLINR REGES SINDs SOt

4. Syad Muhammad Latif, History of the Punjab, F

SOSSE 2000E PONSR SPIDE IS SOSNE A0S WOEE PP PPIEE SEEEE DIEE SOuPE OB FONNS SEIUS Seswe -—es spsve
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and the chiefs who used to breed them took great pride in

1
their equestrian capabilities.

The forests and preserves of the Punjab were rich in
trees. Deodar grew in the higher Himalayan ranges of
Hazara, Chamba, and Kulu, Cheel was found in the Shiwaliks
and other hill tracts of Kangra, Hoshiarpur, Gu-daspur, and

Rawalpindi. Kikar, Shisham, Ber and Dakh grew in the plain

2

rakhs of the bar tracts of the Province.

The total number of towns in the Sikh dominion were

-r
~

nearly one hundred and twenty. The number of large

villages ran into thousands.

The chief markets were Amritsar, Lahore, FPeshawar and
Multan. The indigenous manufactured products were chiefly
silk, carpets and wool. Carpentry, ironmongery and the
manufacture of arms too made good progress. The manufactures

of the Province were all carried on by hand.

Excellent wood work was made at Amritsar, 8Sialkot,
Jhang and Hoshiarpur, these places were also noted for
carving and inlaid work on wood. Leather work, embroidered
with silk or gold thread was made at FPeshawar, Derajat and
Hoshiarpur. Faper was made at Sialkot. The imports from
countries to the westward consisted of gold, tuwrguoise,
silver, silk, assafoetida, fresh and dried fruit, wool and

horses.

The Sikh were known by the territories they inhabited.

Those 1living in the Cis-5atluj region that is between the

BUSEE SEEEE SAGEE VUGS FELIE SUREE SOV FANGE OSAD TEINE WEEE YhIUE MEIGER SHESE SEIGE SNGR SBGEG SIIGE SUSEE SICRE WG SISEE TETEE SOGe SITEE NROES SOLLE SE00S SHOOE G0SEA SEMLE SEAED SOURS PENGE CEPEE SHEGE DECLE ANERD SEEIR POLES SME MINGS MEGSE SEAEE TESED SGOLS SSET SO SATEE USRS ORI SLASE SEUEE SSOLS GRS GRTUT SUBEE SEAND NN SRINE ABPSE

1. Syad Muhammad Latif, History of the FPunjab, p 17
2. Funjab Census of 1855
X Ibid.
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Satluj and the Ghaggar were called Malwais; in the Jalandhar
Doab, the Doabias, of Majha the region between Ravi and the
HBeas as Majhails; south of Lahore as Nakais, between Ravi

and Jhelum the Dharapi Sikhs; and between the Jhelum and the
1
Indus, Fothohar Sikhs.

WRINE WINEE AGEEE DVEE GO TEIUR SR SRBEY RIET BORCH WAGE AECOS S000E AIPE FEE0T O0EE MIUIE GREUS THORN WHGD TESOE SOSBS SHME SESEE THEAR BEEAE SRESE RTSY SENEE BOGSE S00EI BRI GHOOD $RcNE UIRET SEES PIGE NSRS SOTIS SUREE ORI SRS GEOBE PIGIN SECES CPARE IIINE BEPS PUCEE IS SRS SEEEE WIS SUGSP SEEUN ALIIR SRS SPURE IR SS0ee

Sakie PSSO SOLLE MAANG 000 SasPY MENNR SO0E SESH AT TEPOE BEE duens COese MIEIE SOOED SHGER WAGEE TOUED SHSUS GINAR Suse RS
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CHAFPTER - II1

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND AND EARLY
CAREER OF RANJIT SINGH

I

Historical Rackground

it will be pertinent to examine the overall
environment of the Indian subcontinent to understand the
various pulls and pushes which may have influenced Ranjit
Singh, his successors and their opponents, in their

relations and dealings with each other.

In the eighteenth century, Northern India had become
the stage for the clash of two great historic forces. The

1
Mughal dynasty established by Turkish adventurer Rabar in

3
£

15326 and FEhalsa (established by Guru Gobind 8Singh in
1699) . In 17087 when Aurangzeb breathed his last, the Mughal
Empire had extended from kKabul to Dhaka and from Deccan to
Kashmir., The Empire under Aurangazeb had reached its

zenith, so also had set in its decline with him.

Over a period of time a precedent had set in, for the
sons of the emperor to occupy the Delhi throne after
defeating other claimants. On the death of Auwrangzeb,
followed & number of Mughal rulers in quick succession,
taking their crown after bloody wars, in which nobles took
sides and extracted their own pound of flesh from the losers
and winners alike. These wars divided the nobility and
destroyed the fabric of central authority. Busy 1lining

their nests, the nobles who were also the central

WO FEEAE SEEES BIEEE G0ES SENEP SOLES S0Eat $E0EE TEEEE SIEPY SIeRE HEAGT BEREE ERGE SRCEE PG00 COOII SHEET BEESE SOEER SHSRE BIACE PIGES FASGE DEGES SEEPP S050¢ PEGEE SECEE GRLER AGLEE MNNS MY SECSE SETEE SHSES $S4OE SOUTE PENES SOTEA AREER SARSE GIERE GSC SESSE 00000 $O0ES SIERS SEBRS JEANE WMUY SEPAI GBS SEUES GUGGe ST SEes ERESe SeNes

1. Jadunath Sarkar in fall of The Mughal Empire Volume 1,

1988, page 12, says that Iranian Turks were popularly called
Mughals in India.

2. Hari Ram Gupta, History of the Sikhs, Vol 1, pp.272-277
and pp.281-282.
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bureucracy, neglected the actual tedious task of governance.
The central treasury received no regular revenues. There
was no money to pay the soldiers or petty officials. Once
the rulers became dependent on outside support to win the
craown, they then lacked the moral strength to select good

and capable Wazirs., What was happening at Delhi was also

heing repeated in smaller states.

The Wazirs of Mughal Emperors took no action to
strengthen the central authority, they acted only when their
own seat was in danger. Consequently, the subas broke away
one by one. The earliest was Nizam Ul Mulk, Governor of
Deccan, a Turrani who completely broke away from Delhi. He
had resigned Wazirship in 1724 and dexterously manoeuvered
himsel f clear from Delhi politics to carve out an
independent kingdom, though he continued to call himself a
representative of the Mughal ruler but in practice his acts

were all independent.

In the East, Mwshid Ouli Jafar kKhan (1713-1727) rul ed
BRengal and Orissa with efficiency and Farrukhsiyar the
emperor (1712-1719) permitted East India Company to trade
through Calcutta, and enforce all duties on payment of

nominal fees.

In Rengal, to put an end to the rampant corruption in
trade by East India Company and to overcome disloyalty of
his Commander—in-Chief Mir Jaffar, the ruler of Hengal Mir
Gasim fought the British but lost the battle of Plassey in
1757. The British then appointed Mir Jaffar as the Governor
of BRengal. With this act the break away of Eengal from

Delhi was in practice complete. Also this marked the
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beginning of British method of acquiring power in India
through bribe and proxy. It is a different matter that to
legitimise their presence in India, the British requested
for and received the Diwani rights of Bengal, Rihar and

Orissa from Shah Alam II, (1759-1806) who was then himself a

pensioner of the British.

Closer to Delhi with the ouster of Safdar Jang, Nawab
of Oudh from Wazirship in November 1753, Oudh had become
independent and it no longer contributed to the strength of
the Central authority. 8Shah Alam (who was subseqgquently
installed Emperor at Delhi), Shiraj—-Ud-Daula and Mir QGasim
were defeated by the British in 1764 at the Rattle of Buxar.
The treaty with British that followed, sealed the fate of
Oudh as a separate and independent entity free of Mughal
Central authority. It also brought the British in closer

praximity to Delhi and Marathas.

The internal party politics and weakness of the Mughal
Emperor had become public with Nadir Shah’'s invasion and
sack of Delhi in 1739. Ahmad Shah Abdali was then a trusted
General of Nadir Shah and had accompanied him to Delhi.
Nadir Shah was murdered in 1747. Ahmad Shah took over his
master 's mantle and launched on a career of invasions into
North India from 1748 to 1764. Nadir Shah had already
annexed Suba of kKabul and all the portions of the Funjab and
Sind lying West of the Indus river down to the sea. Abdali
who followed Nadir Shah went a step further and appointed

his own Governors of Lahore and Sarhind.

The North—-West was the traditional route of aggression.

But with the loss of Bengal and Bihar to the British and



after the battle of Buxar, with the establishment of British
influence over Oudh, a new direction of threat had developed
unobtrusively and surefootedly, from across the Seas.
Unperceived by the local rulers it was the beginning of the

colonisation of India by the British East India Company.

Against this background, the rise of Sikhs as a new
power 1in Northern India was not sudden, rather it was a
gradual process stretching well over the entire eighteenth
century. Guru Gobind Singh, before his death in 1708, had
directed Randa Bahadur to take the offensive against the
Mughal rule. In a couple of years Samana, Sar;:nd,
Jullunder and the surrounding areas came under the Khalsa
rule. Rebellion so close to Delhi had shaken the Mughal
Government to action and brought in its wake, full fury of
imperial retribution. Such that Banda Rahadur and many of
his followers were captured and put to death in 1716.1

The brutal killing of Banda Bahaduw and his followers
had sowed the seed of armed rebellion. It also marked the
beginning of a struggle for independence of the Khalsa from
the Mughal rulers. By mid-eighteenth century as the Afghans
replaced the Mughals in the seats of authority, only the
opponents changed and the kKhalsa struggle continued, till an
enterprising Sikh Chigf, Ranjit Singh grandson of Charat
Singh put together a Kingdom and raised a strong army for
its protection. Naturally a freedom obtained with such

effort inculcated a greater spirit of sacrifice amongst the

Sikh soldiers verging on fanaticism. How else could these

FORIN MIAEG SEINE WAGEE SHO00 SEPIR SUCEO SEECE SESEE EAR BRIEE SHIND SEBET SLTOE SOTII F0OE0 SEEOD 96000 SOSEN HINGN SEIE SUTEE GESSE POGEE SITED SOEEE SDGEE ABEDE SIIBE EAMRE (e SOSET GINER SEPSS SUSET POGOS GEENE SRIGE PONY SEUNS I SEGEE S0 C0OGP BENEE SEUSE CRING KNGS HEDE CITEY COSEE SELEE LREGE PEEP CALIR TINNE SIRE WISIS GURES EPESY

1. Surman_Embassy, to the Court of Mughal Emperor Farrukh
siyvar at Delhi in 1716, saw the followers of Banda Rahadur
heing paraded and executed at Delhi. He reported this

execution to Robert Hedges, Fresident and Governor at Fort
William, BRengal.
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soldiers of the Punjab fight and win in battles such as
Chuch and Fir Sabak, Which were fought by Ranjit Singh 1in

the beginning of nineteenth century to remove the remaining

Afghan supremacy in India, once for all.

Charat 8Singh, grand father of Ranjit Singh died in
1774 AD due to a mortal wound sustained because of the
bursting of a matchlock. Charat Singh throughout his 1ife

actively participated in the Dal Khalsa’'s struggle to harass

1
and break the will of the Afghans to march to Delhi. The

territory left by him on his death yielded about three lakhs

2

of rupees annually, and was inherited by his eldest son,

Maha Singh.

When Charat Singh died, his son Maha Singh was only ten

vears old,so Mai Desan widow of Charat Singh took contirol of

w—

>

the misl administration. She was a worldly-wise lady who

improved her misl ‘s circumstances by appropriate matrimonial
4

alliances. Mai Desan married her daughter, Raj Kaur to
Sahib Singh, son of Gujar Singh of Gujarat and her son Maha
Singh to the daughter of Gajpat Singh ruler of Jind in 1774.

The support and patronage extended to Sukarchakia Misl by a

BUCP COIIE TUNIN TNONE ISR SOGID IV VEREE S SETSE TESEE PIAGY BITOE TEGEE TREPS SOCEE SITT TOOTE THNIE WHESE TEGIE SETRG SPTEE TGHGE S5OV HENGN CITER S SEPTT PINOE SHGLE UG GEDS SANGS SOOPS MBSO TEGNE SOLIE SOPOE SEGNE CHINE INEGS SEEEE OGS DI SHUER SEERD NI SHGDE BEDES SOLEE SIS LINES TESRY SANGE SPEES SABES ISR AAEED VEEDS

1. Muhammad Latif, History of the FPunjab, reprint 1994,
p.>4@. Mohammad Latif writes, " Charat Singh was a man of
high aims, and with far more advanced ideas than his
contemporaries of the misl. He laid the foundation of the
greatness of the family. By his industry, economy and
perseverance, he extended his estates and throve upon the
disorder which followed on the overthrow of the Lahore
Governor, kKhwaja Obed. Charat Singh appeared early in the
field as an enterprising leader and soon rose from a common

Dharwi, or highway robber, to the sardari of a confederacy

and contributed materially to the strength of the GSikhs
as a nation".

2. Hari Ram Gupta, History of the Sikhs, Vol IV, 1982,
p.304

T John JH Gordon, The 8Sikhs, Reprint 1988, p 8Z. Gordon
writes, "Sikh ladies played an important part in the

history of these warlike times.. and Mai Desan ruled with
vigowr and diplomacy.”

4. Bhagat Singh, A_History of 8Sikh Misls, 1993, pp. 183~
184.
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1
friend of Charat Singh, Jai Singh Kanaihvya, allowed Maha

Singh time to consolidate his position and within a few

rJ

vyears he felt strong enough to occupy kKotli Ahangaran, near
Sialkot. Maha Singh then demanded Zamzama gun from Ahmad
Khan who in Charat Singh’'s absence had carried it off from
Gujranwala to Rasulnagar. On Ahmad KkKhan's refusal Maha
Singh alongwith Jai Singh Kanaihya, successfully besieged
ReaulnagarQ and renamed it Ramnagar. The relics of Prophet
Muhammad were removed by Maha Singh from Ramnagar to
Gujranwala and were kept there in safe custmdy.4 He
appointed his subordinate, Dal Singh Governor of the newly

acquired territory. The victory enhanced Maha Singh's

prestige and many a Sardar now joined his banners.

o
It was at the fall of Ramnagar on 13 November 1780

that Maha 8Singh received the news of the birth of Ranjit

Singh.

Maha 8Singh captured the forts of Kot Fir Muhammad,
Sayyidnagar, and Manchar. He attacked and made Sahiwal a
tributory to him. The infighting amongst the Bhangis gave
impetus to their own downfall and Maha Singh Sukarchakia

immediately stepped in to enlarge his domain and rakhi

LT 5000 KEEPE SIIOE TOSIE RO TSGR TOLEE SOGIE SetRE LIGTS SEOEE STSEE FNEEE HINTE SUDEE SEEER SPOPY INPTE PINGE SOLEE Sutii PESOY DHOEE SPISE TEIEE GEGUE SHUGE SRCEE SHNDY SANAR SEESE APGER SHREE SENES PRGIR TEETD GENEP MHSGE SOGEE UG PINEE YNGR SOGEP SINPE CEGEE SANAE SANGE SeAts BPEE RN SSLES CHLES WIENS FMNGS SOPDE SPSE SAAED SHINNS SEGER

DONIN GUEDa APEIP SEGEE MISGE GBS SOGIL SENSR SHIDP SHGE SRGRE SOSNE SHNGR IORS SE0GS SOUAB GRAN S0PES Soved SOUND BIESS SPOLE CMes GIBED SHOED SONIS SEPES SHLI0 DIGED Lpebs SAER

Ranjit Singh's Times, 1994, p.15 informs that Jaimal

§I3gﬁ“”E£EIEE;”GaE“EFBEEEF of Jai Singh Kanihya and Jaimal
Sigh's daughter Chand FEFaur was wife of Maharaja FKharak
Singh.

2. Ehagat ©Gingh in History of Sikh Misls, 199%, p.184
states that the artisans of this place were very adapt
in manufacturing rifles. Maha Singh on occupying FKotli
Ahangaran armed his soldiers with new rifles.

2 Hari Ram Gupta in History of the Sikhs, Vol 1V, 1982,
pPp.>306- J@7. Rasulnagar was situated on the southern
bank of river Chenab 45 kms North-West of Wazirabad.

4. Muhammad Latif in History of the Funjab, reprint 1994,
P.34d

o Hari Ram Gupta, History of the Sikhs, Vol v, 1982,

PO GROTS SLREY LESEE SENEE Setes SO Ghin SEORE SOSE) SRRE INAIE POSER GRPES SDPIS SEUID COOEE BEEAS Sumit

p.3@07. Maha Singh was then 16 years old and Raj Kauwr mother
of Ranjit Singh may be one year younger.
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l.ands. He seized Bhangi territories of Findi Bhattian, Isa
Fhel and Musa Khel. While Maha Singh gained in strength and
stature, his neighbours, the large and strong Bhangli Misl
faced some serious reverses. Timur Shah, son of Ahmad Shah,
expelled them from Multan and secured his dependencies of
Bahawal pur, Mankera and Sind from Sikh encroachment.

Captain Muwrray in his, "Memoir on Historical® and
"Folitical Transaction in the Punjab’1 informs that Maha
B8ingh instead of marching west-wards to confront the Kabul
monarch chose instead to improve his financial circumstances

by enforcing tribute from the Raja of Jammu. On his approach

Brij Raj the ruler of Jammu evacuated his capital and fled

2

to the Trikota Devi mountains North of Jammu. The
lawlessness and disturbed conditions which were long
prevalent in Funjab had forced many merchants and traders to
move to the safety of Jammu hills. Maha Singh was therefore
reputed to have carried off valuables to an incredible
amount which he did not share with anyone. This gave rise
to much jealousy and resentment amongst the Bhangi Sardars
and in the mind of Jai Singh Kanaihya, once the guardian and
ally of Maha Singh.

Maha Singh consequently found himself unable to contend
with the joint power of the Bhangi and Kanaihya Misls. He

resolved to strengthen himself and so he aligned with Jassa

)

Singh Ramgarhia and the hill HRaja Sansar Chand

BPET MNP M000S 0400E POPEE $000E SETEE FEESE TIEEG SEAEE TAGNL POLBE SPPR FESER YOTUE CHSPE THOTE SUCEI CHEER PASE) FSEEE SAOGE SOPEE TURDE STEOE SOSUE SUNEE SEGES PEGRE SONGE IPED SEEGS SPGEE S0GEI SO0 TEEIR TGP SRCSR SE0GE SLIGE SIGES Setes SSSE SIGE CHEEC SREEE SSNER FRANS SAGEI SISO GETEE GGG SERGE BOREE CONAE SHING BMEGR VAP SSeRE Pebes

1. HE Bhatia, Rare Documents on Sikhs and their Rule _in
the _FPunjab, 1992, p.63
L Bhagat Singh in A _History of Sikh Misls, 1993, p.1352,
writes, Jai Singh Kanaihya and Jassa Singh Ramgarhia were
very friendly to each other and had jointly undertaken armed
operation against the Afghans, but after the sack of Kasur a
dispute arose between the two Sardars, over the division of

hooty.
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Katmch.l Jassa Singh Ramgarhia was then in the Hansi
district subsisting on plunder of the country east of the
Ganges and Jamuna. He immediately returned to join hands
with Maha Singh. Sansar Chand of Kangra who had to settle
his own s=score with Kanaihya's teoo joined hands with Maha
Singh. In February 1785 in a battle which took place between
the two parties, at Achal close to Batala, Gurbaksh Singh
son of Jai Singh Kanaihya died fighting while his troops
took to flight. Defeated, Jai Singh Kanaihvyva withdrew from

the field and sued +for peace.

The Ramgarhia lands were returned to Jassa 8Singh
Ramgarhia. Sansar Chand received the fort of kangra, earlier
gained by the Kanaihya Sardar through stratagem. Jai Singh
Fanaihya having lost his able son Gurbaksh Singh and being

of old age, sought and received the consent of Maha Singh to

e

the marriage” of his grand daughter Mehtab Kaur to Kanjit
Singh. This step secured the friendship of Maha Singh and
held out to Jai Singh the prospect of his daughter—in—-law
Sada Fkaur being permitted to enioy the family domain after
his demise. Thus at the young age of 22 years Maha Singh

achieved for the Sukarchakia Misl a position of predominance

S D G W AV TSmO S WA A W —— . U — R SO G S A S S WA N W— S RN S WA PPND EEND S W E—— A A G S S G . . D G CHTT S S — D T CEm— AN W SRS G CEN SRS S S

1. Muhammad Latif in History of the Punjab, reprint 1994,
pp.oB9—- 311 informs, Sansar Chand had invited Jai Singh
Kanaihya o help him capture the fort of Kangra. Instead,
Jai Singh had occupied it for himself leaving Sansar Chand
agut in the cold.

2. Very early at the age of =six years in 1786 RKanjit Singh
was afflicted with small pox of a very virulent type, by
which his life was endangered. The child recovered after a
great deal of prayer, distribution of alms and medication.
However, because of the disease he lost one eye and was left
with quite a few pock marks on the face. Sada Kaur, widow
of Burbaksh Singh, the late son of Jai Singh kKanaihya met
Ranjit Singh’'s mother Raj Kaur at Jawalamukhi temple, where
she had gone to pray for the recovery of her son. There, at
Jawalamukhi it is believed, the hetrothel of Sada Kaur's
daughter Mehtab Kaur to Ranjit Singh was decided. Same vyear
after Ranjit Singh recovered , the marriage was solemnised.




and an arbitrating influence in the affairs of Funjab. The
Bhangi influence was already on the decline, the Kanaihya

pride was humbled and the friendship of Ramgarhia‘'s and

FKatoch Raja was secured.

Maha ©Singh next decided to achieve public recognition
for his ascendancy over the Bhangi confederacy and so after
Gujar Singh Bhangi died in 1788 and when the claims and
counter claims for the inheritance of PBhangi possessions
were being traded between his sons Sahib Singh and Fateh
Singh, he took sides with the younger son Fateh Singh and
simultaneously extended a demand for tribute from Sahib
Singh.1 The claim for tribute from Maha Singh was turned
down by Sahib Singh on the ground that Gujar 8Singh Bhangi
had never fought under the standard of the Sukarchakia Misl.
Maha Singh next besieged Sahib 8Singh in the Sodhra fort.
The siege lasted three months and was called off only when
Maha Singh was suddenly taken ill. Deciding his end had
come, Hari Ram Gupta writes, "at a brief ceremony Maha
Singh tied a turban on Ranjit Singh's head with his own

hands as a mark of his succession. He left ten vyear old

Ranjit Singh to conduct the siege. He appointed his most

2

trusted companion, Dal 8Singh kalianwala his guardian.”
Maha 8Singh was evacuated from the field of battle to his

fort at Guijranwala where he expired after a few days in

T
I

April 1790.

BE000 S4000 IUNT THLTE AIHCE TE000 GITER THESE SOPEY ABEES GOMED NP BRBIE MIUEG SOCEE SR CEETL SlNrE SEE0P SEOR TA000 SONUA YAGET CINGE BINEE MDSCE BINNE SOCES NN TECOP SONEE HESUD CHSSE NIDLS SEGDE URRVE SEENE CRIPE SEGES SIANE YERI CEBEY BIOSD SH0SE PIAGS GEOGE N BOTEE SSUME CUDUR SERAE SOPEP SOSPE THEGN SUNE IIORD DOTE KHURE SESSE SmAY

1. To Maha Singh the ascendancy over EBhangi confederacy
was so paramount that he disregarded the fact that his
sister was married to Sahib Singh.

2 Hari Ram Gupta, History of the 8Sikhs, Vol v, 1982,
p.213

S Ibid, foot note quoting Persian Akhbarat and Marathi

records Hari Ram Gupta confirms Maha Singh’'s death in 1790.
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Muhammad Latif commenting on the period when Maha Singh
consolidated his Misl, has observed that, "So distracted
was the state of the country, so small the influence of the
Gurumatta or national assembly, and so fife was intrigue

among the ambitious chiefs, that everything favoured the

adventurous spirit and ambitions design of the vyoung Maha
1

Singh. He could have if he (Mahan Singh) had 1lived ten

vyears longer, possibly become the strongest Sikh chief of

2

the whole of northern India

James Browne in 1787 estimated the military strength of
Mahan Singh at 15,0008 horse and S0 foot in the Rachna
Doab, and about S00Q horse and foot in the Chaj and Sind

Sagar Doabs. Imam—ud—-din Husaini wrote in 1796 that Mahan

-
-

Singh commanded about 22,000 horse and foot.

Mahan Singh's marriage into the Jind family had given
him an opportunity to see the way the Phulkian Chiefs were
governing. These FPhulkia Sardars had given up the
feudalistic confederated system of the Sikh Misls of the
Majha area. Maha Singh in his life time organised his Misl

on  the Phulkia pattern. All the chiefs serving under him

SHTI0 00N AR YHIGE THGES GSIBE TEGON SR MIEES BSOS SSEE DEMNE HNIU FETOP COGO0 CEEE TENAS KEGEE OGS BOSSE THSNG BHANE TLEEE SOPEE SOPEE SHRIE RO GEOSE SOGUE BEUHE KIGNS 5000 CEOES PENNG LGRS RIS SEOE SHELE FAIEE GENGE SEGED SERGD LOSNE SEMND PLSDE SREED DHGEE NAGE WHEEE SEGES WEEPS SEUNE KNGS GHGNE SOGNE SEINT HARNG FSS0S SORRE SEPGe

1. Muhammad Latif, History of the FPunjab reprint 1994, pp.
S44-345
2 Hari Kam Gupta, History of the Sikhs., Vol v, 1982,

SOLED SINES WHEE IS SOSEE eSS SN CROEE CUSIT GOLNE PIEVY SEOEE CODOY GITUS AU KNGS GIBAS SEPSS by

pp.313-314., Hari Ram Gupta has listed the territories under
Sukachakia Misl at the time of death of Maha Singh, in 1970.

Hafizabad, Jamke, Faryal, Mandiala, Muraliwala,
Naushahra, Fasrur, Rangpur,Sandhanwala, Shailkhupura,
Sodhra, Tegha Mandiala.

Chaj Doab : BRhera, Jalalpur, Kunjah, Miani, Salt Range.

Ll SEPIE CUSSS AN SPNIE Savew

Sind_ Sagar Doab : Chakwal, Dhanni, Fatahang, Jehlam,

kKot Raja, Kot Sahib Khan, Makhad, Pind Dadan Khan,
Findi Gheb, Fothohar, Sayyidpur.
R ibid.

Rachna Doab : Akalgarh, Daska, 0Goidke, OGujranwala,



were treated by him not as his equals as was the rule in the

Misls, but as his subordinates, they were given fixed

salaries with occasional rewards by way of appreciation for

some deeds of extraordinary nature. The entire booty,

tributes, revenues, rakhis and fines, went into the state

treasury and they were not distributed among his officers.
1

"In this way he had set up a petty Kingdom of his own." He

had sown the seed of monarchy. Ranjit Singh inherited this

patrimony.

After the death of Maha 8ingh, the process of
unification of Punjab was delayed by crucial ten years and
during this period the British advanced from Allahabad to
Delhi and so the geopolitical scene in Northern India
changed, such that, once the British were at Delhi, they
were 1in & position to interfere with the affairs of 8ikh
Sardars of the Malwa and influence the vyoung Sukarchakia
Sardar Ranjit Singh, to limit his southward domains to the
Satluj.

Many scholars have investigated the life and times of
Maharaja Ranjit Singh and have also analysed the performance
of the Fkhalsa Army uder Kanjit Singh 's successors in  the
Anglo-Sikh wars. But, hardly any work goes deep into the
notable campaigns of the Maharaja before 1822, when he had
not vyet taken any Europeans in his service. It was during
this early period of his reign that Ranjit Singh had to
fight and subdue a number of chiefs to consolidate his
kingdom. He decisively defeated the Afghans, pushing them

once for all bevyond the EKhyber which is now the western

SEREU SHEIS SUERE 4GS REEIR EP GRAGE RACEE SERtE SEORE SUABE SENEE CEGAT OERE FEARd SELEE POIDE FEGIT WIGNL CTIR NS SENGE NEES SRGOO SESGE DESO PEGAR GHNL GIERE BHESE SEGEE E0OS S0GCE SEEHE WHNLS SRIGE TEGEP SEEER SSONE DERSY SOG0S POIGE YHIGE TEGED S00SE ABTAR FAPUS SAGES SHEEO SEENE NG SIS SHNNe SENDY VS SOEED ST SREAY AWY SESeS

OGO SIEE WHIN WIS SO SEESS SR SOTEL TONES SISNE IS SOUDE (RGUE RREGE GRS SINDS SEDSS BESGR IS



frontier of Pakistan. The successes of the Army under
Ranjit S8Singh may be attributed teo its motivation and rich
inheritance. There were no formal schools of military
instructions.

Ranjit Singh continuously reorganised and trained his
army for the day when his kingdom might measure swords with
the Rritish. Ranjit Singh died in 1839 and the rule of his
successors did not last long. However, the Khalsa Army in
its many battles with the British stood steadfast and fought

valiantly, earning the acclaim even of their adversaries.
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Farly Career

1
Punjab at the turn of the century because of invasions

from the North-West lasting more than half a century
presented a desolate scene. The Sikhs with their spirit of
never—-say—die, had emerged as the dominant class. There
were twelve Sikh Chiefships which had their territories in

the plains of the central Punjab and along the foot of the
hills estending from environs of Karnal to Jammu. There
were a number of hill states such as Mandi, Suket, BRasohli,
Nurpur, Jaswan etc ruled by the Rajput princes with their
strongholds located on the innner range of the Himalavas

between Jammu and Lahaul-Spiti. There were a few independ-
ent principalities belonging to the Punjabi Mussalmans, who
had organised themselves under their tribal leaders. There
were the Fathans of kKasur, Chhathas of Rasulnagar, Sials of
Jhang, Tiwanas of Shahpur and Bilochs and Awans of kKhushab
and Sahiwal. Lastly, there were principalities ruled by the
Fathan Nawabs on behalf of the ruler of Kabul. These were
Mualtan, Rahawalpur, Dera Ghazi FKhan, Mankera and Feshawar,

Bannu, Tonk and the uplands of Hazara. These principalities

RGNS BECEr AT SESET SONEY TEEhA BEETY PRGOS SELOE TEEES SESET SECEE YERNE DECEE Sotsn LENE THGEE SIS SOENE SEINE PROGE SO0SE TAUAG SESEE RESEE SORSE SO TENTS OGS LEGOT THAGE SECSE TSNS SPEE S400E SOMNE SEGE SETET MGG TOSEE WEENE FESPE TESEL EAGE SEESE SEPEE SOLE TEOET SAGRE SEE TRIET GRSEE COSPE GG EBme BEAEE RHEAE SEOGP BOTRE Ghews

1. Here Funjab in general encompasses territory from Indus
to Jamuna and as regards invasions there is no doubt that
the PFPunjab, had been the victim of foreign invasions.
Madir Shah in 1739 sacked Delhi. In the fourth invasion
Ahmad Shah Durrani in 1756 - 57 went beyond Funjab to Delhi,
Mathwa and Agra and in his fifth invasion 1759 - 61 he went
upto Aligarh and Anupshahar on the Ganga. Timur Shah, the
son and successor of Ahmad Shah led five expeditions in
177475, 1779-80, 1780-81, 1785-846, 1788-89. His activities
remained confined to the banks of river Indus, FKashmir,
Multan, BRahawalpur and Sind. The last Durvrani who invaded,
hefore Ranjit Singh put a stop to it, was Shah Zaman, the
son and successor of Timur Shah, he entered India four
times, in 1793-924, he toured along the river Indus. The
second time in 1795-9%, the Shah halted at Hasan Abdal,
while his troops captured Rohtas. In the third invasion in
179697 he sieged Lahore and advanced to Amritsar where he
was defeated by the Sikhs. In the last in 1798-99, he
returned to Kabul from Lahore.
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=1
formed a powerful group which for all practical purposes had

over a period of time become independent of any external

contiol.

To bring together and form a united political union of
all the above parochial chiefs or at least get them to form
a defensive military alliance against outside invasions into
Funjab was then inconceivable. Strife amongst neighbours

was the order of the day. Even the Sikh Sardars were freely

indulging in internecine warfare.

Each of the Sikh Chiefship was an independent political
entity. "It owed no allegiance to any superior authority.
Nor was there any central organisation which exercised any
effective control over these chieftains. The only body to

which they owed allegiance (as every other 8Sikh did) was the
1
Sarbat kKhalsa or the Panthic whole.” The Afghan danger was

apparently the only reason which gave the Sikh chiefs a
common cause to co-operate. 0On the death of Abdali, the
external danger no longer remained so pressing, and the Sikh
chiefs became concerned with increasing their individual

resouwces and influence. This increase perforce had to be at

-2
ol

the cost of their neighbour.

BE00E EINEE SHINS PINEE THIEE CHTEE BOSOE T0EEd SEGIR SESEE SETAR SENEE SRS KPS HEGER SO0GE SN0 S0G0E SOPET DEGLE PESEE KHINHE SEIGS MAOE S0500 SHGEC COLTE GEGEE SREES GIGEE MIGEE IIGE KERSE K00 GOG0E LGP TEOTE SHORd SEPE GUSER WEER IS ITSN FHAGE GOS0 SETEO CHIGD SEEP SEEP SEENS GERE PEESS BIGA DESES SENGE GUGEE SEEIE GOPES SOSNT PIRSS

1. ©Bita Ram Kohli, Foreword to Umdat-Ut-Twarikh Daftar I11,
translation from Persian to English by VS8 SURI, 1961,
pp IX-X.

2. George Forster, A_Journey from Bengal to England, Vol
I, reprint 1970, p.340. He observes that about this period,
in Punjab : the unwritten theocratic commonwealth of the
Khalsa changed into feudal chiefships. It was then only a
matter of time for the stronger amongst them to establish a

monarchy.
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1
In 1798, after death of his father Maha Singh , when

the leadership of the Shukarchakia Misl devolved on the
vyoung shoulders of Ranjit Singh, he was not yet 18 vyears

old. Ranjit Singh liked equestrian sport, sword and spear,

2

wrestling and shooting , and showed no interest in reading
or writing. The affairs of the Misl were perforce managed by
Raj Kanwar, mother of Ranjit Singh. The 24 year old mother
was assisted by two trusted officers of her late husband,
Diwan Lakhpat Rai kKhatri of Naushehra was responsible for
administrative duties, revenue collection and realisation of
tribute; Missar Laiq Kam looked after the household
affairs. The overall authority was exercised by Dal Singh,

Chieft of Akalgarh, who was maternal uncle of late Maha
"{

E‘::irn;;h...~ In 1786, Ranjit Singh was married to Mehtab Kaur of
Fanaihya Misl. His mother—in—-law Sada Kaur, wife of late
Gurbaksh Singh Kanaihya, was an ambitious 1lady. She
conspired with Dal Singh and the two got Ranjit 8Singh to

take over the reins of Shukarchakia Misl at an early age.

Afghans after Abdali had not given up their desire for
the riches of Delhi. Following the death of Timur Shah, his
son and successor Shah Zaman marched into Funjab. The first
time, in December 1793 he returned to Kabul after travelling

along the Western bank of river Indus. In the second incur-

WOREE SITEE SEEBE WHINE MIGEE SEIES TUENE SHEE SECSS TEAEY PEAGS SEONE S0COE SEGEE NN SOUSS IOUPT CANGS SETEE SROS RO SLETE SOGNE TIOIE GOINE LD SEGEE SEEEE SHAEE SOTEE SECPE $00SE YIiGE SSSER TEEET SEGPE SOLIE SOSGE SEIIE FREES SIEEE SRl GIMIT SEEGE TRGES SIUEY GRS SOESE JUGID IIEE SENEE SEEEE SEGHE SESEDR ORI SENES KNV SIRET ANSES NS

) HR Gupta, History of the Sikhs, Vol V, 1991, p.9.

NG FIOSL SELTE GRS MIAS SHESS CNON FOTED SIEPE SHSES SHING SELED SEIND SAORE MURD SeSEe CETIE ThING SSses

However, JD Cunningham in History of the Sikhs, reprint
199@, p.107 has given date of death of Maha Singh as early
1792.

2 Ibid, p.8, Captain Wade, the British political agent at
Ludhiana recorded on 31 May 1831, Ranjit Singh’'s statement
that he had fired 20,000 bullets left by his father in store
at OGujranwala, for practice on targets at the age of 18 or
11.

. ibid.
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sion, ©Shah Zaman crossed Indus at Attock by a bridge of
boats and set up his headquarters at Hasan Abdal, 127 Kms
from Feshawar. Another 117 kms farther down the road on the
west of Jhelum was the fort of Rohtas held by Ranjit Singh's
men. Ranjit Singh avoiding an open conflict, and in keep-—
ing with his plans vacated Rohtas. Here, the Afghan General
Ahmad Fhan Shahanchibashi was soon joined by Ghakkars, the
Jats and other Punjab Mussalman tribes.1 In the meantime
Shah Zaman received information of an insurrection raised by
his step brother Mahmud at Herat and the invasion of west

Afghanistan by the king of Iran. Faced with such news Shah

Zaman gave up his invasion plans and returned to Peshawar.

Before returning home Shah Zaman appointed Shahanchi-
bashi Governor of Rohtas fort and despatched BRahadur EKhan
at the head of a force 12,000 strong, to conguer Gujrat.
This was Sahib Singh’'s territory and he opposed him. In the
course of fighting a ball struck ERahadur EKhan and he was
killed. The Afghans were defeated and many of them were
slain. Ranjit Singh in the meantime had reached Gujrat, the
two Sardars then advanced to recover Rohtas. On  their

approach Shahanchibashi withdrew to Peshawar. Ranjit Singh

2

then occupied Rohtas, Fothohar and Gheba country.

WO0E GELRs THSLE SEINN MCES SEOEE SOEE MNGS BEEE SELIE SEUE DEEGE TEE0E D504 SIeNn CHASE CONPE DSOS SEONE TEONE SEREe SEPES PEASE SEGOE SEEGE SESEU SSTT TRAES SHOBE SOPE0 SO0G S0OES SELIE THIPY SGE HEGEE JITER GOSSE PGS SETES GHNIG MIGEE GRDSS LIS CEEGE SHEES POTES FEPVE SOGIE SIEEE SEIEE DUSUR SEEAS ISLSE COAUD SEMNE SEeul SEEEY TEEES BN

1. Muhammad Latif, History of Punjab, reprint 1994, p.301

CONE $0Y Peces clese 00 Pesee L I R ooven apove

2. HR Gupta, History of the Sikhs, Vol 1V, 1982, p.463

SIS SI0e SOLEs tmbdu taafe mabs POOUR GPOIE SEIGE WEIT IOTEE IUNE SEPES TIGER TEEES TUIOE POTEY SRS SEIN



In the middle of 1796, Shah Zaman commenced serious

preparations for his third invasion; to him the possible
1
loot riches of Delhi was irresistible. By September troops

were collecting in Kabul from al1 parts of Afghan dominions.
The total strength of the Duwrrani army was about 80,000

horse and foot, sixty three pieces of cannon and 700 pieces
2

of camel artillervy. No difficulty was experienced in
collecting troops, Shaikh Rahim Ali, the British intelli-
gencer, sent to kKabul, wrote that "the sepoys of this
country are ready to march towards Hind without pay merely
on the chance of plunder. But the Afghans were afraid of

the Sikhsy; and they required assurance for their proper

3

protection while passing across the FPunjab.”

At the news of Durrani invasion in the offing, the

Marathas and the British grew apprehensive. However, the

WOLLE WHSY GHEEE WP SHEEA TOEOE DOOES GOOSE SOOI GNEDE SHGEE ARG REEhE NITRS BEURS 5640 TEGPS SESOT SUTEE TOCES SHANE GHRNE KNG REBVE SHLE SHGEE EBEPY SOTEE CEGBe LR AN FHINES GIIGE SRR SOGEE SESEs OGS SOSES CONPE SREHS SHAKE SHNNE UGS PEDRE GOTEI SOGPE SEGEE GIGET TEERe SANAD UBEAG FEOBE ISP PIGEY SLONE COW HHERe CEEEE BEGSY PREBH

1. HR Gupta History of the Sikhs, Vol 1V, 1982, p 465. HR
Gupta has ascribed several objectives to invasions of Shah
Zaman, such as, "He wanted to win the glory of rescuing the
Mughal Empire from the domination of the Marathas. He
wished to retain his overlordship of the Punjab. He was
prepared to leave the province with the Sikhs if they could
agree to pay him tribute. He desired to replenish his
exhausted treasury. Lastly, he intended to marry the
daughter of FPrince Akbar Shah whom he wanted to be
acknowledged the successor to Shah Alam I1I."

2 The camel artillery called Zamburks were long swivels
of one or two pounds ball. Two of them were carried on the
back of a camel. When they were to be brought into play, the
camel was made to Kneel on the ground, and to prevent his
rising, each leg was fastened, bent as it was, with a cord.
{HR Gupta, History of the Sikhs, Volume IV, 1982. p 465 and

same page foot note 1).
Da Ibid.
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Governor General expressed confidence in Sikh—arms, but he

feared that Shah might negotiate with the Sikh chiefs and
pass unmolested through their country. To meet such an
eventuality he issued instructions to the Resident at
L.ucknow to request the Nawab of Oudh to assemble an
effective body of troops to join the British army, and to
keep a careful watch over the conduct of the Rohilla chief
of Rampur who might help the invader, since they were
originally his countrymen. The Bengal armies were ordered to
assemble npear Kanauj and native cavalry and infantry units
commanded by Hritish officers were mobilised with orders to
assemble at Lucknow. The large force so assembled only over-

awed the Nawab of Oudh and forced him to accept a treaty
2

with the East India Company.

SEIVS FERIE PIGEN GBS SEIGE SEOED TODES (INGE SOEGE SEUE SPTEE NG GOEEE SOSPS FEESE SONP SHEIE PESEE TEOE PUGIN KAAGS SELAS TEUEE PEGEE CHNSS ESESE PRCGE SEOSE USNNS SUSEE SUOSE JNECE CANNG SRESE STGSE SOTEE RGNS SNGER SHEGE SOCTE IRGEE MIAEA SUBEE WIGEE SCAEE SNES VOGS SEGEE SO00E BNMNR SONSE TNGGE GRDES BEGNG G000E GERAR SPCGE SONS YRGS AR

1. The Governor General at Clacutta recorded his opinion
thus, "The Sikhs though divided are numerous, and if unegual
from disunion to oppose a large army of the Abdali, are
warlike. A sense of common danger ought naturally to
produce a union amongst them, and consequently a formidable
opposition to the progress of Zaman Shah, which 1t was
highly probable, would occupy his arms for at least a
season, and obviate all apprehension that he would be able
to advance bevyond the FPunjab. (HR Gupta, History of the
Sikhs, Volume IV, 1982, p.466).

2. RBikramajit Hasrat writes, "The vast Mass of Wellesley
papers in the British Museum contains a few volumes (MS
3727475, I7282-84) of the Marques private correspondence
with Henry Dundas, the President of Board of Control,
dealing with the early British policy towards the Cis-8Batluj
region and the Sikhs... {(Wellesley to Dundas, 2% Feb, 6
July and 4 December 1798). ...These papers, which include
Marques of Wellesley's despatches to the Board of Control
and the court of Director's mostly deal with the so called
Afghan threat to India... It is however, clear that
Wellesley unduly magnified the threat to assemble the army
of Bengal on the frontier of Oudh to force the Nawab Vazier
to accept the treaty of 1801 (-to court of Directors WD, 1i.
(No €C XXX IV)" (Rikramajit Hasrat, Life and Times of Ranjit
Singh, 1977, pp—-16—-17).
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The Marathas though strong were disunited and were
incapable of fighting against the invader. In January 1797,
“Jagga RBaba’' a Maratha chief wrote to Falmer (LLieutenant
Colonel Falmer Resident with Sindhia) suggesting that, "the
Fnglish should take their position on the Jamuna bevyond
Delhi, and thus bar the path of the invader.”1

The Muhammadan Frinces of upper India were in regular
communication with Shah Zaman and unlike the Sikhs or the

English they were wging upon Shah Zaman the necessity of an

invasion, assuing him that the Muhammadan world viewed his

2

coming as the deliverer of its people.

In the face of Shah Zaman's invasion all the Sikhs were
not united. Sahib Singh, Raja of FPatiala, was favourably
disposed to unite his interests with those of the Shah. It
was known that he maintained friendly correspondence with
the ministers of Shah Zaman. So, the Fhulkian Sikhs, headed
hy Raja of Fatiala were indifferent to the call for united

efforts made by Majha Sikh Sardars.

Among the Majha Sikhs, Ranjit Singh was definitely
opposed to the invader, and it was known that other Trans-
Satluj Sikh chiefs would Jjoin him in their efforts to defeat
Shah Zaman. "The farthest outpost on the north-west was
held by Ram 8Singh at Sarae KFali, Milkha 8Singh was at
Rawalpindi, Mohar Singh at Rohtas, Sahib S5ingh at OGujrat,
Dal ©Singh at Ahamadabad, Ranjit Singh at Rasulnagar, Lahna

PUCEE SRSGE POEDE TEOLE TRUEE NG FOGER PESIE SUGES SERNE 0SS SUSIE SOGET CORET SOSIE SE0E SERSE SEGRE THAGE SRSEE TAGNE SO $OSEE GO SOSEE SEOEE SORDE SEEGE IECE IOGOE SEOEE TLATE SEEST SEESE $PUEE SGEE IUREE WEGE SITED SPIGS SEEt TEATE SEEEE SOPEE TN BEEEE TEOEE SOTEP SONEY SEMER ASEIP G000 SSGSE SIDER ARSSS SOAES SHABS SEBPT BESST FERRl

1. HR Gupta, History of the Sikhs, VYolume 1V, 1982, p.467.

BAnSe erest SsTes detme RESLS Shebw AD SIS SISAS SOCGR GGG SEGT SPABY TEEEY SIS SOSEE SUURG LR Babie

2 Muhammad Latif, History of the Punjab, reprint 1994,
Pe.o@1.
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1
Singh in Lahore and Gulab Singh at Amritsar.” Anticipating

the invasion the people had started sending their families

and valuables to the hills of Jammu, Nurpur, Rasohli,

Haripur and Kangra.

Shah left Feshawar in November 1796. While the bridge
over Indus was under preparation, he sent 1light raiding
parties across the river. The advance guard numbered 12,000
and it was placed under Sher Muhammad kKhan. When half of it
under Sher Muhammad’'s son advanced towards Hasan Abdal, it
was engaged by Milkha Singh. The engagement lasted a few
hours and each side lost about fifty men. The Durrani
returned to his camp, and Milkha Singh retired to Kohtas.

Ranjit 8Singh then 16 vears old was holding the advance

2

defence line on the Jhelum with 10,0008 horse. He ordered
RKohtas to be vacated. A division of Afghan army clashed
with Kanjit Singh and he was forced to withdraw. He took up
fresh defences at Miani, where he was socon joined by Milkha
Singh and Sahib Singh of Gujrat. Ranjit Singh then crossed
the Jhelum and launched a surprise attack on the Durrani

contingent at Find Dadan kKhan and immediately recrossed the

"!

Pes

river. When the Durranni advance—guard crossed the Jhelum

and encamped at kKharian, the Sikh chiefs crossed the Chenab
4
and collected their troops on its southern bank. After

establishing strong posts at Rohtas, and OGujrat as also

military posts enroute to protect his lines of communica-

SO0 S0408 S00LY SEENE SOREE SUCGE SALET DELLE SELGD SOTRS FRAGE INEGE TEGEE SEOSE S04es OISR SHEES SEPES SESOE POER SNER WAEE SEEEE SHRES 0000 SES00 SRS SLONE LRGBS SEGGE FANCE PESOE BIGEE SEGRE TELEE REGHS SESEE SOCEE SGSIE DUGES SESGE GOGES SUNES SENEE TABIN NS SENGS SISRE SSUSS SDUE BOSEE SCOIE SOLEE JNEGE IEIGE SSELY S00EE CIRED SUEPS SO

. HR Gupta, History of the Sikhs, Volue IV, 1982, p 4648.
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2. 1bid, p.469.
. Ihid, p.470.
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tion, ©&8hah Zaman reached Eminabad at the end of December
1796 and Lahore in the beginning of January 1797. The Sikhs
throughout remained active in his rear, they were expelling
his thanedars from various military posts established by him

particularly in the area lying between the Jhelum and the

Chenab.

At Lahore, Shah Zaman received regular reports of Sikh
chiefs rallying at Amritsar and also at Shaikupura 25 kms
West of Lahore. On 11 Jdanuary 1797, a light cavalry detach-
ment was sent to raid Amritsar by the Afghans. It was
repulsed by a body of Sikhs in a hand to hand fight with
sword and spear. Then Shah himself led a major portion of
his Army to Amritsar. "The Sikhs also gathered in a large
body numbering about fifty thousand. A desperate battle was
the result. It commenced at 8 Q'clock in the morning on 12
January. Shah Zaman opened intense fire from the camel
artillery while the Sikhs used their matchlocks only. The
fight continued unabated tl11 2 0’'clock. About this time the
Sikhs realized that they had made no impression on the
enemy. They gave a signal for a general charge."l The two
armies continued in close combat for nearly four hours, The
Afghans finally gave way and were pursued by the Sikhs to
the very gates of Lahore. The losses on both sides were
heavy. Shah Zaman returned to Lahore at night and next
morning passed orders for the repair of the fort and

manuwfactuwre of arms, ammunition and guns. He summoned

chiefs of EKasur and Mir Fatah Ali Khan, the Governor of

BEGES PEGSS $060E I SEI0E LLOEE TRELE $H06S LENe SEESE POSEN TESEE FESE PIUEE SEGEE SEEEE PRE S00EE GESEE SEPEE G008 PIIES LO0ED TISES CEOPR TEEET TOESE SES0E SEGEN SHNGE SONGE TERGT POGEE SOSEP FEURE SETES TEEGE TEEES SEANE CAGEE DEGEE SOTEE SEEIE WIEEE SEPEE SIECY TGP GOREE SIGIE BEARE JPGOU SNNE GEREL BSSE TEECS FERES W Sesea SENas Seses

I

. HR Gupta, History of the Sikhs, Volume IV, 1982, pp 474

475.



Sind. He sent for reinforcements from Muzaffar Khan,
Governor of Multan, to come forward with 10,000 horse, 2000
camels and some money. 0On the following day a contingent of
the Afghans sent towards Amritsar to scout for intelligence
was attacked by the Sikhs. In the action about 00 men were
killed and wounded on either side. The Sikhs continued
harassing Shah Zaman by cutting off supplies and waylaying
his messengers.

The Sikh chiefs remained in close vicinity of Amritsar.
The reports indicated that 700@ well mounted (Khush aspah)
Sikh horsemen and 10,000 (Akal Rungia) infantry were in the
fort at Amritsar. Ranjit Singh at the head of 908Q troops
was stationed a few kilometers north of Amritsar. Jassa
Singh RKamgarhia was at Sri Hargobindpur, Gulab Singh Bhangi
was at a distance of 30 kilometers. Lahna Singh was on the
other side of the RBeas. A news letter from Patiala of 17
January 1797 stated that the Sikh horsemen had infested the
roads leading from Lahore to Patiala, and they seized and
carried off all the ‘dak harkaras’ bringing news from

1
l_ahore.

Regular reports were reaching Shah of Sikhs assembling
towards Churian and Fakpattan, as alsoc that J000 Sikhs were
lying encamped near Shaikupura. 8Shah then directed his
forces under local Muslim chiefs, to neutralise these Gikh
forces, but these local chiefs were clever enough to
misguide the Afghan columns or give early warning to the
Sikh Sardars, as the local chiefs though vociferous in clai-

ming loyalty to the Bhah, were in fact, afraid of

GNP BIUNE MIRNE BEUE UGS JETES TUGEE TIPS SEPEE SENIE SEONY TEEES TEUES SEGSE GOEST SOUEP SEUNE BRLEE WIGE BEEIE BEAEE SPEGE KRGS SIGE SRESE PEMSS SESEE S0SSY SN0 SER0C S6GSE NGO GRS GOPE0 0GP G0GEE SELET SONES SESIT SUSRE FEGOR WIERG BEGRE FEIRE WAMEE FONES MuUd SEMS NG SEOSE SO0 G000P COuDn CDEGE OGS FESUS SO Auses POede Somes
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retribution of Sikh chiefs as and when the Afghan king

retired to kKabul.

Under such continuous pressure from the Sikhs, the
Shah's army was getting restless. In addition there was the
new attitude of the monarch which they were not too happy to
accept; it was his decree that they would not commit loot
and plunder. Shah Zaman was wise to realise that he could
nmot reach Delhi with a hostile population in his rear, and
because of his orders no ocutrage was permitted on any
individual during the Shah’'s progress from Peshawar to
l.ahore. But this policy did not make any impact on the local
people as most had already left their homes for the hills
and secondly, the local Muslims held Sikhs in some esteem
for they did not misbehave the way Afghans or Marathas
cmuld.1 In such an environment, Shah Zaman, when opposed by
Sikhs, obviously could not make his own circumstances even
more difficult by allowing plunder and ill treatment of the

local population. He forbade his Governor of Lahore from

demanding tribute and gave orders to put to death only those

q
Lo

Sikhs who appear in arms against them, but spare the rest.

The Sikhs were successfully implementing a coordinated
Guerilla plan of battle. Ranjit 8Singh, the young

Sukarchakia chief was most conspicuocus for his bold

U000 S0SES PISER GINEE SOTIS SEOTE TEAE TEEEE PR SUGEE MERES SUPEL SOCER TOREE DOIDE CEGEE SEPEE GBS PEOCE SUNEE BECOE TENIE TENEE SUPIE SAEET SEEET S0UEE SHOTE SANUR SENEE HUOOE SUPER THEIE GUGRE SEOAE SEFEE SEPDE MIGWE BEGEP SHPEE SIGET IGTS RIGET FIESE PONEE SEEEE SWLHE SEANE SORAE TEGEE SIGES PISTE SIGRE SEANE SORSE SREER AAGNR SHESE SPIE Phvas

1. The Gikhs were popular with the local population so
much so that whenever there was an invasion, Lahna Singh
Sikh chief in Lahore was always recommended by its Muslim
population to the Durrani king for good treatment. Shah
Zaman on this occasion had sent messengers to Lahna 8Singh
assuwring him of the royal favour and retension 1in the
governorship of Lahore. Lahna Singh declined submission on
account of hostile attitude of his comrades. (HR Gupta,
History of the Sikhs, Volume IV, 1982, p 471).
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manoeuvires. The Sikhs were cutting off all the Durrani

supplies. Any large or small body of troops venturing out
WAaS immediately pounced upon and Durrani’'s isolated
military outposts were relentlessly attacked. Shahs troops
were soon discontented and demoralised. They were most

unhappy that plunder which was their hereditary activity was

also denied to them.

Shah Zaman was still finding ways to tackle the Sikhs,
when he received the news of disturbances in Herat. Finding

his throne under threat, and hardpressed as he was, he
1
decided to retreat. Thus ended GShah Zaman's third

invasion.

On his return journey early in February 1797 at Jhelum,
Shah Zaman appointed Ahmad Khan Shahanchibashi his Governor
of Rohtas and of tﬁe country lying between rivers Jhelum and

the Indus. He had with him 7000 troops 188 pieces of camel
2

artillery, four guns and two lakh rupees. No Governor was
appointed or toops left to the east of river Jhelum. Once
Hhah Zaman departed, the Sikh chiefs immediately began as
was  their modus operandi, to recover their possessions.

Ranjit Singh advanced to capture Rohtas, while Milkha Singh

DS FEASE SETEE BIGES S00E4 AEE FHODE SIS SEASE KNG BESEE G00E RESSY BRANY FEPSS GOIST 4SS GNING $E4EE SEESE SISEE HISEG G060 SEETE IBPSE VEESU PROOT S0900 SHAEP SOUET G000 SESEE GRPES KNGS $G008 SOGME SRS KHSNE GOGOT SEGEL SHMEN SESRE $EBGd SESEE SANEE TRSLS SO0CE BEGEE WAGEE SACES CGGES THEEE HISHE WA FROGE SENS WSUE WESY TEESS CREE

1. HR Gupta in History of Sikhs, VYol 1V, 1982, p.478 is of
the view that, "There is no doubt that if Shah Zaman had
advanced from Lahore he would have reached the imperial
capital. The Trans-Satluj Sikhs would not have gone far in
pursuit of the Shah away from their homes. Sahib Singh of
Fatiala and several others would have submitted and
assissted him in his advance. The Marathas were not
prepared to impede his progress. They might have molested
his retreat, but they should not have checked his entrance
into Delhi. The English were ready to oppose him (only) 1f
he had tried to march bevond the imperial capital towards
Oudh. ™

2. HR Gupta, History of the Sikhs, Veolume IV, 1982, p 479.
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came to Gujrat and Sahib Singh reached FRawalpindi. Soon,
these chiefs in a well coordinated plan engaged Shahanchi-

1
hashi in battle and killed him.

Ranjit Singh during this invasion took the field boldly
and withdrew only when the opposition was superior to his
means. On reaching Amritsar he joined hands with other
chiefs, to fight, to harass, and to cut off the Afghan
supplies. The 8Sikhs were definitely successfull for Shah
Zaman was forced to give up his plans to reach Delhi.

Infact Durrani took cmuntil of his ncohles and withdrew.

Unlike the Dharwis (highwaymen) of vyore, by the close
of eighteenth century the socldiers of the Sikh Sardars were
more and more to be found amongst those of the village
yvyouth, who had learnt riding, wrestling and the use of arms.
Since match-locks were only kept by the rich, the vyouth
firset learnt the use of swords, spears, bows and arrows as
these simple arms were found in evervbody'’'s possession. One
may notice here that the change in recruitment from Dharwis
to village youth, was an indication of a little more settled
conditions, under the Sikh Sardars towards the end of the

2ighteenth century.
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i. Shahanchibashi forcibly took a brahmin girl into his
harem which raised the anger of the localpopulation. When
he was encamped at some distance from Gujirat on the Western
bank of river Chenab a large body of S5Sikh youth roused to
hattle one Redi Ram Singh of village FKotli Faqir Chand
Bedian in Sialkot district, attacked him. Thus engaged
Shahanchibashi was encircled from the west by Ranjit Singh,
Sahib Singh and other Sikh Sardars. In the engagement Redi

Ham Singh and Shahanchibashi were killed. The Durrani
troops took to flight and crossed Indus. In the pursuit son
of Faiz Talab governor of Peshawar and his three principal

officers too were killed alongwith nearly 3000 Afghans and
about half that number of Sikhs. (HR Gupta, History of the
Sikhs, Volume IV, 1982, p 484).

CO0ue SEPIE AINEE 20000 SEEes
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When Afghans came invading, the people generally
vacated their villages, lock, stock and barvrel, 1loading
their meagre possessions of cooking utensils on camels and
ponies. The old and infirm too were sometime carried on
bullock carts. Nearby dense jungles or hills offered them
refuge. Thus shedding their families and valuables, the
young and the bold then took the field. Each village or a
few villages put together made a unit of men, and they chose
their Sardar. They knew the local tervain like the back of
their hands. They were the Guerilla bands, who according to
the enterprise of their leader acted like the fox, nibbling
at the vitals of the Afghan invading columns, giving them no
rest. Often under more bold and daring leaders they
attacked 1like a pack of lions, assaulting with elan. When
their prowess was proved and their confidence had taken
roots they dared to reach Amritsar and join big Sardars like
Ranjit Singh, Jassa Singh Ramgarhia, Tara Singh Ghaiba or
Sahib Singh Bedi, to take a stand and fight, like they did
when they defeated Shah Zaman at Amritsar in a pitched
hattle on 12 January 1797. Thus Sikhs from protecting their
hearth and home graduated to fight pitched battles. These
men had a will, a pride and in one hundred vears from the
creation of the KFhalsa (1699), the tables were turned on the
invaders from the North-West.

In the winter of 1798 the Sikhs learnt through their
Intelligence outposts that Shah Zaman would again invade;
and so their chiefs got together at Amritsar on the Diwali
day. They invited Sahib Singh of Fatiala but he remained
loyal to the Afghan monarch and declined the invitaion " 0On

the pretence that their plans this year would prove equally
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i
tnefficacious like those of last season.”

Shah Zaman left kKabul early in September 1798 on his
fourth invasion and, before October end, his advance guard
crossed the Indus at Attock. In the face of the enemy

onslaught, the Sikh ocutpost at Sarae FKali held by Milkha

2

Singh’'s wife was evacuated. Milkha Singh himself after two
determined engagements with the Mullukia Zamindars at Sarae

Fali and Rawalpindi had fallen back S2 kilometers.

The Sikhs continuously harassed the Shah's army on its
mar-ch to Lahore. Ranjit Singh alongwith other Sikh Sardars
attacked Wazir Wafadar Khan somewhere between Gujrat and
Wazirabad; in the action Wafadar kEhan lost a good number of
his troops. There were more attacks launched into the rear
of Shah Zaman's army, and his merchant caravans with
considerable property were plundered. These attacks forced
great caution on the Shah. "He hesitated to march to Delhi
leaving the ©&ikhs behind unsubdued. In his opinion the
HDikhs were unequal to a conflict in the open field; but

their guerilla attacks could greatly harass and distress his

4

Army. "

From Jhelum to Amritsar the country lay deserted. EShah
Zaman entered Lahore on 3@ November 1798. The GSikhs were
successfuly repeating their performance of harassment of
Shah's army as they had done during his invasion a year

earlier. The Shah found himseldf in a fix for he had no

1. HR Gupta, History of
489-490@.

2. ibid, pp 484

. Ihid, p 496.

svese ssene



45
1
solution to the Sikh problem.

Wazir Wafadar Fkhan sent a fresh agent Neki Singh to
Amritsar. The previous agent, Diwan Atma Ram had returned
disappointed, because the Sikh Sardars were averse to

placing any confidence in the promises made to them on the

-
<

part of the Shah.

Neki Singh on behalf of the Shah presented two pairs of
shawls to Ranjit Singh. Neki Singh was given seven bows and
seven quivers full of fine arrows for the Shah. The Sikh
Sardars advised Neki 8Singh to prevail upon the 8hah to
return home. Ghasi Singh on behalf of Sahib Singh and Mohan
Singh on bahalf of Ranjit Singh were deputed to accompany
Neki Singh. bihile these diplomatic parleys were on, the
Bikhs did not lower their guard. It was known that the Sikhs
were alert, they kept the saddles on their horses and

remained under arms day and night.

Shah Zaman was still at Lahore gathering couwrage to
mar-ch tao Delhi when the news of trouble in his homeland
obliged him to return. The Sikh vakils who had accompanied
Neki &ingh to Lahore were made convenient hostages by the

Shah to protect his rear. They were allowed to go only when

*s,

the returning Afghans had crossed the Jhelum. A force left
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1. HR Gupta, History of the Sikhs, Volume IV, 1982, p.506
writes: "The Sikhs reboubled their efforts to harass the
Shah. They organised several foraging parties and
despatched them 1in all directions to cutoff the supplies
caoming to Lahore. The Shah’'s camp at the capital was always
bept in a state of alarm, as the Sikhs attacked it every
night with musketry fire. 8So terrified were the Durranis
that none dared go out against them. A guard of S00 horses
was stationed day and night to protect the Ravi bridge.”

2 Ibid. pp.o05-5@s6.
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hehind by the Shah to wind up the rear was attacked and made
to withdraw even before Shah Zaman had crossed the Fhyaber
Fass. Some of the guns of Shah which were swept away due to
sudden flood in the Jhelum, were subsequently recovered by
Ranjit Singh and then to prove his growing credentials these
guns were returned to Shah Zaman, on a specific reguest made
By him to Ranjit Singh.1 This act shows a sign of
developing self-confidence in Ranjit Singh. It made him
establish a personal rapport with the king of kKabul. Unknown

to the world at large, this was also the last Afghan

adventure into India for Ranjit Singh had come of age.

As Ranjit Singh was consolidating his position in
Funjab and setting his sight on Lahore, momentous changes
were taking place in the rest of India. The weak central
authority of the Feshwa which was a cause for internecine
warfare amongst the Maratha nobility had placed on a platter
for the ever vigilant Rritish, a chance to expand into the
Western and Central India. Already the British forces had

annihilated Tipu Sultan (4 May, 1799). Enslavement of Nizam

2

Ali of Hyderabad had preceded eight months earlier. And
when the rebel Jaswant Rao Holkar claimed the headship of
the house of Holkars under the garb of Regent of infant
Fhande Kao 11, he wanted the Feshwa to give public

recognition to his claim. But the deceitful Raji Rao

SEE MIEPE SE0DE DTG CESGE EEEE SEGEE SIHEC HHBEE HINGE STRSE C0GA0 S0GOE SGET SETES SESGP PSP oA BN SEITE T00SE TET4S SOTEE CEEEE CETES TNESE SANEE SREUS OGRS SPUE $U00T SCEE SSEEE BEPSS SESSE SHAEE PEIBY G66e SHTES SONGE GSOES SELES SEINS JESIE SEEE BESED SEEEE SO00C POGIT SOTES SHEER AERIE NAAS IESGE SEEEE SEDE SEGE $000E SEATE EETes

1. HR Gupta, History of the Sikhs, Volume V, p 19 and same
page footnote 1. Hari Ram Gupta writes, that Ranjit Singh
could drag out eight guns in the beginning of March, 1799
and he sent them to the Shah at Feshawar. The remaining
four guns, one of iron and three of brass, were recovered 1in
1822, and kept in his own personal arsenal.

g Jadhunath Sarkar quoting pune residency correspondence
(VIII, 159, 163) in Eall of the Mughal Empire, Vol IV,
1992, p.129
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followed the oriental policy of procrastination, so that,
time may decide in his favour. The result was disastrous.
"The last fruit of civil war is the loss of national
liberty, and Holkar's triumph made the Feshwa an English
Vassal... In one day Sindhia’s paramount power and prestige
were destroyed beyond repair by Holkar and the Maratha
capital and its master Baji Rao the FPeshwa lay prostrate
before the victor"l. The FPeshwa fled to Konkan, wandered
about for some weeks to aveoid Holkar 's pursuing bands, at
last took refuge in an English ship, which landed him at
their port of Hassein on &th December, 1802. Where on 31
December he signed the Treaty of BRassein, by which he
acknowledged British over—lordship and the British forces,
under the leadership of the future duke of Wellington
entered Funa on 20th April 1803, "Thereafter RBaji Rao was
restored to the throne with British support on 13th  Mavy,

1803, exactly like Mir Jafar who had been seated on the

"masnad’ of Bengal by Clive on 29th June, 1757."

The scene at Delhi was no better. Shah Alam 11, the
Mughal Emperor, on return to Delhi after leaving British
protection at Allahabad in 1771, was & prisoner in his own
fort under the protection of the Marathas. He was a blind
pauper incapable of managing his own affairs, leave alone
play any role in the affairs of Hindustan. "The sons and
nephews of Shah Alam, being driven to despair by their very
niggardly allowances and the utter blankness of their
future, one after another broke out of their prison palace
in Delhi and escaped to Oudh, the Deccan or Afghanistan.

These escapades created at the time some alarm and confusion

BO0EE Geehs SEGEE 0000s GPLEE FHNEE SRESE THSSE PONGE SEAPS HESEE C0CED PEEEE SHINE FESEE C00E DEEGE SHIRE SRS SEEEE SEAEE SISV TEGEE SHNSE TECEE ALINP CETEE SUSER SEGE MEEE SEUEE POCNE DARIG KRS SETEE S4S0E BUEES FPEET TEISE BEAET SHRER PEESS SESE SOLEY THGAY VERSS TEEGE CEOEE IONEN BORES SESES SITEY THAGE SESET S000E FSGRS SRR SEAED CPES FESME

9000 SASNE $000S DEORE $ES0E SESIE NI SETR SUNES SORS SNIGE SEOSP Sebee St G000 D000T SUSNE GPOIS Setes ssane soses seses

. ibid.
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1
but no real harm came out of them." The Subehdari of Delhi
was  entrusted to the Maratha, who placed Perron, a French

officer, in command of Sindhia’'s forces in the North. He

discharged the duties of this office through his deputy

~

e

Drugeon, till the time the British defeated Ferron and
aoccupied Delhi in 188%. Shah Alam thereafter had become a
figurhead living under the protection of British East India
Company. Thus in the beginning of nineteenth century, after
the British reached Delhi, there was no strong native force

which could oppose them except the Sikh Chiefs in Funjab.

During the Shah Zaman's invasion (1796-97) Ranjit Singh
had written to Sahib Singh of Patiala to join him against

the invader, but Sahib Singh did not even care to reply to

oo

“ene

this letter. Earlier (in 1795) when Shah Zaman was at
Feshawar and preparing to march to Delhi, Ranjit Singh wrote
to 8hah Nizam—ud-din of Delhi, a staunch friend of the
Maratha chief Daulat Rao Sindhia. Nothing had come out of

4
these negotiations either.

From such unhelpful attitude, the geopolitics of the
region must not have escaped the attention of young
Shukarchakia chief. From Rohtas to Eminabad which was mostly
his domain and his Rakhi Lands it was his people, who
everytime suffered the invaders onslaught as he marched to
l.ahore. He himself must be strong, thought Ranjit Singh, in
order to put a stop to all this. It must not have escaped
his great mind that since Lahore was the centre of all

activity, if he occupied it, it would give him the prestige

COENE FAENE INEH WIDES SEEPE COSEE PRGEE CETEE TEDEE SN FUNEE HHNNN BENES SOBEE SEOED G040l PIENO SOOEE DUER RASER LEASE ANESE SPSEE C0GEd SONER CEGET C0r TEEDR SEANE BARGE $ESEE SOORE DEGEE SN0 S00GE CH0ad SONEE LOREE FEEWD FEERS GRS POSES SE0EE SOOPE SSSGS PENNE MY MR SITHE COLIS SEEES 0500 $S0EE CLGEE LLEEE SPRIE WEERE GUARE HITPS SESS

1. Jadhunath Dbarkar, Fall of the Mughal Empire, Vol IV,
p 88.

2. ibid, p.183

S HR Gupta, History of the Sikhs, Volume IV, 1982, p 484.

4

RaGaP TE0es SNSR 20604 beans Seved BOENE S4EEE G00te CEITE SRCEE TENER HHNEE PIGED SEVES SOPET DIGEE Peset SPese

4. ibid, p 462,
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and recognition to prevail on other Sardars and thus muster
enough strength to defend his domain. Alternatively he
could negotiate with the Duwrrani king and may a&altogether
avoid the march of the Afghans through his lands. Many such
consliderations must have been debated by the YOoung
Sukarchakia Sardar. The next time when Zaman Shah left

L.ahore Ranjit Singh was ready to occupy it.
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CHAFTER IV
UNIFICATION OF FUMJAE

H
Hanjit Singh'= rescurces as recorded bhetween 17927 and

1795 by Ghulam Sarwar, an intelligence agent who travelled
through Funjab on orders of the British resident at Lucknow,
were veriftied through Imam-ud-din Hussain, ancother spy of

the Hritish Government who staved in Funjab between 17946-98.

}

These reports confirmed that though 173 vears of age in 1793,
Ramjit Singh was the most powerful chief in the Funjabh. He
cdominated large parts of Sind Sagar Doabk, Chaj Doab and
Hachna Doab, the country lving between the rivers Indus and
Havil . It wvielded him an anmnual revenue of I8 lakhs of
rupees,

Amongst many  petty forts, FRarjit Singh possessed
@ighteen large strongholds of note. Some of these were:

Dadan (Find Dadan Fhan), it wa= mud-built, large,
atrong and had two guns mounted. Dulloor (Dinpuwr), located
o the borders of Jammu and Sialkot district, it was built
of stoney, stood on an eminence and was large in size, it had
four small guns mounted. Gujiranwala, &9 kms Morth of Lahore,
1t was made of mud, i1t mounted eight gun=s. Its circumference
was o kme. A few members of Ranjit Singh's family resided in
this Ffort, Funjah, 12 kms West of Gujrat. It was made of
bricks and mounted two guns. Razsulnagar, renamed Ramnagar
o the Chenab, 1t had a strong fort capable of resisting &
siege, though it was made of mud, eight guns were mounted on
ite walls, Tte circumference was > km. It had four large

anrnd  three =small gatewave. Some of the member of  Hanmjit

i

Dingh ‘s family resided there. Sayyidnagar or Sayyid KHasran,

veves sevse sen eves aente enees o eeeee comas seces Sessh rEEA SRS FEEES GESes STASH SLES PRERL SIVSY PANEE AHFEE TEIEC SOCEE Seces P00 SEPNA SECSE ARAE SFAGN ARYES FEUSE Teems Csse PSS 68Gs GONWS ERNYE HUAS STOLL Cs0EE SE0EE LHILS SEEEs AEIIA KECSN FRANE 06008 Secss SERSS Seabe Keese NI ARFES KEANE Eeels secse

1. HR Gupta, History he, Mol YV, pp.ll-

123 and 2324
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e bme from Chabwal i Jhelum district, It WAS mud-built

but strong encugh to sustain a siege, four guns were mounted

s
rt

mln s 1ts circumference was about I kms. It had two large

and two small gatewavs.

Hanjit &Singh at about this time had a force of 1,20Q@
Horse and 2000 foot in permanent employment. When on &
campalagn or invelved in & siege, he could raise 11,002 horse
and &HQ2@0 focot. Ghaus Fhan was the Darogha of Topkhana., He

commanded 10080 Afghan infantry with =i1x  gun=s. Ae Ranjit

i

..
i

ingh progressed with the unification of Fumijab, =0 did the
wztirength of his army keep on incresasing. His  ingenuity in
building up an army to support his military objectives is

the =zubject of a subseqguent chapter.

Harnjit Sinmgh, had realised the damage and destruction
which was regularly being casused to Funjabh betweern Jhelum
and  lLahore. He knew that =single handedly he did not have
the rescuwces, and & combined effort from &1l Sikh  Sardars
to oust Durrani was not forthcoming., He had seen for himseldf

that his request to other chief=zs to come forward and join

1

him had fallen on deat ears. Sardars such as  Sahib Singh
Changi, Jassa Singh FRamgarhia, Tara S5ingh Ghebs and even
SGahib  Singh Bedi of Una had failed to respond tao his call
for a joint attack on the invader. HSada Fawr, mother—-in-—1aw
of Ranmjit Singh had to reproach them for not joining Hanjit

1
Dingh.

foud
"ﬁ
ol
-
il
e
1
i

The mutual l1ea and parcchialism of the chiefs

i
i

were  such that, though everyone' s &im was the =same, there

o seear swesd dees es esens esss o a0sue S40sa SesEl KEEAS S Seets S8ees FeRse BAVES SR00e Selas BEeNs FNASE Paese cesee CI0GE SESAN BALES Seces POORS SEIGE SEIES TC0S SEee SesEs SEehE Seabe SesBe SS6ES PALAL WeE SeS0e 00Es S4ASA SRIES BESES S050Y TIEIA HAUOR BRGEE SRLET FESES SISAN SRERY I0TIE TRERS SPTER emer FRPeT Seete P0ees

1. HRE Gupta, History of

woese sbeta o e nesee

the Sikhs, VYolume IV, 198332, p 49&.
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was no unity for a s=ingle concentrated application of force

to oust the Atghans. Frotection of Amritzar and harassment

s

(Guerilla War) was all they were prepared to do. Under the

L4

circumstance=s, the =seed of ‘unification by force’ must have

£

taken root in FRanjit

o

ingh's yvoung mind. With this clear cut
obhvjective, he must have decided there and thern to combine
all Misls and chiefs under his hanner. A a tirst =tep, he

met i s mirnd to mal e Lahore the centre of all his

N

activities. Inm Rarmjit Singh ' = career this HWAaS his first

military objective of great political significance.

l.ahore

lahore was the centre of geo-politics of MNMorthern India

1
from time immemorial. It was the capital of Lahore Suba of
the Mughal rule. In 1757, Emperor of Delhi had ceded the twc

Subias af lahore and Sind to Abhmad Shah Ahdzsli. He i1 t U

d appointed hi=s son yvoung Timuwr Shah as its Governor  with

.
oo
1

his Commander—-i1n-Chiet Jahan Fhan as actusl administrator.

The Sikh confederate under Jazsa Singh Falal Akl uwalial
it in a combined attack and occupied 1t 1n 1758.

Thereafter, Sikhs vacated or occupied it in accordance with
the arvival or departure of the Durrani invasicone., Aftter
the invasion of 17467 of Ahmad Shahy Sardar Lahna Singh and

Sobha  Singh recccuplied it until the third invasion of  Shah

i

Laman in  1794-97. Once again, onn Shah  Zaman’ departure

L.ahma Singh and Sobha Singh re-occcupied Lahore in 1799,

5 20M0s Sesee S4E4S SPAsE eEae Geese SEARD POIETE Secss Besss SETES SPEPE G000l SEEEY 62080 LerEE SUIET FUNOE TEEEI SEEES 180T SItee sessa seces e esse cesse tesss esnss sEFPE 20l Geese etes Ssese sEsee Geess Beses evess 4e esees besel sesre ehese seses sesss SesET SRess SECEL PEUEE SUSEN eURE Sesee SSSs SE0ee Shean Sesee

i

1. "Mubammadan=s point  to an ele
the Furani Taksal or old Mint, as=s
City. The tombh 1=z sacred tc Malal
of Lahore after ite conguest by
oxf the ancient town are plerced by thirte
HE NMewell, T.A4.FRGS, Lahore (Capital of the F
egdition, p.&1, (Dr. Gandsa Singh collection 13
Umiversity, Fatialall

eventh centuwy tomb, near

Hat of the founder of the
Ayvaz, appointed Governor
Mabhmud of Ghazni. The walls
ern gates". L[Lt Col
= i jab)y Second

Ay, Fun jabi



lLahore i 179% was partitiomned and ruled by  three
Hhangli Sardars — Chet Singh, Sahib Singh and Mohar  Singh.

Their rule was inept and pecople were groaning wunder oppre-
wsive tares and extortions. The rulers robbed the people,
carocusing themselves., The town locked & deserted place, 1ts

of

suln-hs were desolate and depopulated. Az a resul

0

r-

guarrel between the Muhammadan Chowdharis and khatrizs of the

town, the zon—-in-law of a Chowdhari was framed on charges of

cirdered the asccused to bhe thrown into prison and did not

wos!

sccept any appeal to change his decision. The Chowdharis

SWGre vengeance on Chet Singh and so decided to invite
1

Ramjit Singh and replace the Bhangli misrule.

There was one more reason to invite Ranjit  Singh.
After the return of Zaman Shah news had gained currency that
Mizam—ud-Dinm, the Fathan chief of Fasur was preparing to
oooupy Lahore. To the people of Lahore he was as much
unwelcome as  the Bhangi Sardars. Whatever may be their
motivation, all the leading citizens of Lahore; Hindu,

Muslim and Sikh addressed a petition to Ranmjit Singh to

eocee semss sasee mecas seses 6 25904 $0950 SSEEs $a00e 200es Pasee SleEe GASES PEIPE SECSS COGE SRCSE CoBey SS3UE GETES GO0EE PESGE CONEE FEOLD BEFCI PIESS SROPS BICIE FEGEI VSORE FEBST CEETE SUGSS TEISs SEGGe SEEEE PUCEI FTSEU SEPEs SO CREE TEEE TESLl CSGEE S40ES PESES TETES S000E SOGET LELEE SITET SETEE SESGT SOLAS COTEY FETE S000R SEESe ssads

1. Both Ganda Singh and RBikramjit Hasrat are of the view
that the s=story that Ranjit Singh occupied Lahore aon  the
authority of a grant ((Mizamat) for =zervices rendered in the
recaovery and return of a few guns of the Shah is absolutely
false. "There i1is no menticon of thise incident 1in  the
contemporary works of Sohan Lal. Ahmad Shah Batalia,
Amarnath and Bute Shah. Even Sultan Mohd, Fhan Durrani  and
Imam—ud-din Hussainli make no mention of it in their Tarikh-
i—-Sultani and tarikh-i-Ahmed Shah.” (Ganda Singh, Maharaja
Hanjit Singh, A _ _Life Sketch, 1939, footnote, p.7 and
Hikramjit Hasrat, Life and Times o FRanjdit Singh, 1977,

3. 28,)

eree sover
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accupy Lahore.

A deputation which subsequently met Ranjit Singh
praomised to open the city gates to him; they only wanted his
presence.  Ranjit Singh despatched his own agent Fazi  Abdul

Habhman to Lahore to keep the negotiations going and himself

~
o

with the combined Fanaihvya, MNakai and Sukarchakia forces
marched to Amritsar. To maintain swprise, it was given out
that HRanjit Singh was proceeding on his usual visit to
Harmandir Sahib. It was usual in those dave for a chief to
move with a large body of troops. Thereafter, from Amritsar
to Lahore Ranjit Singh proceeded in one rapid march, and
halted in the "Haradari’ of Mawab Wazir Fhan near the tomb

af Anarbkali.

The Bhangi Sardars who were by then alerted to the
imminent attack, decided to oppose the invader. During the
Ehangi rule exncept three gates, the Delhi, Lahori and

Foshmai, all the rest were closed with brick walls. Two

in

st

r+

-
1
a

hundred men who came out to face t schking troops were
@anlly  repulsed. In the meantime, RKanjit Singh received
information that conspiring nobles had made & large hbreach
hetweern the FEhizvri and Yakbkil gates, for him to enter the
ity HRamjit Singh however, suspected treachery and was
unwilling to  act o the information. He let 1t be EkEnown

that his entry would bhe through a gate. A time was filxed

and at the appointed houwr with 100@ troops he approached the

Lahori gate, while Gada Fauwr with larger force made a
diversionary attack on the Delhi gate. Chet Singh who was
1. Muhammad Latif, History of the Punijab, reprint 1294,
e 249, 2. GL Chopra, The FPunjsb ss & Sovereign  sState,

17460, p.8
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till then personally present at the Lahori gate rnow fed with
the information of the large attack underway at Delhi gate,
relocated himself and his troops to checkmate the enemies
major attack. The conspirators in his absence opened the
l.ahori  gate to the waiting Ranjit Singh. While Sahib Singh
and Mohar Singh escaped, Chet Singh shut himself inside the
fort {Hazuwri HRagh). Ranjit Singh ordered his troops
surrounding  the fort to fire a few cannon shells. Finding
his situation hopeless, the following day 7 July 1799 Chet
Singh 5urrendered.1 He was allowed to leave in satety with
His family and was granted a respectable Jagir for his
mu“:mlm:e:-avrw:xrw::e.Ji Troops were strictly ordered not to plunder
or molest the citizens. Ranjit Singh established a Thana and
A strong police force for the security of his rew
possession. He personally assured the pecople that their
rights and property were secure as long as  they remained
faitthful to him. The Lahore campaign was short but the
result was & landmark in the history of the Sikhes. "It wiped
out  the remnant of the once powerful Bhangi Misl, created
awe and respect 1in the minds of the Majha Sardars and

provided to Ramjit Singh a historic capital, the possession

in

of which was necessary for prestige and power to any Master

of  the Funjab. It thus laid the foundation of a s=sovereign

-~

SDikh monarchy in the Funjab”.

MEEBS SHOEE ERGGE SEAEE SIGS DELEE StEd SE0NE 0sSE SESIT FEGE V400 SNGEE G000 CS0DP Peosd PEEGT PHENE SAIEE GEREN SRESE SRGAS BREES PSS BEESE LRI SEEEE SIGEE et Govhe SEete SEEIY TIPS PEIIS $0GI $eaed TEete SOEEE SECPE PEERS $HSES bt WSS HERER Howmd KESEE MESIE SSEE SEGES PEGAE $600s SPRES Soted SEtEs LEESE GEGPE SESPT $4480 Seess SEURE

1. Muhammad Latif, History of the Funjab, reprint 1994, pp
249351,

2 Ganda Singh, Maharaja Ranjit Singh A Life Sketch, 1939,
PRV

K Rikrama Jit Hasrat, Life_and Times of_ _KRanijit Singh,
1977, p 41.
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Shah Zaman who so anxiously wanted to emulate his
grandfather, Ahmed Shah Abdali, on learning of the capture
af Lahore by Ranjit Singh, realized the futility of his
attempts to subdue the Sikhs. By then his own rule in  Kabul
was thireatened by Civil War. Therefore, toc have at least the
semblance of his authority, he sent a ‘Fhilat’ to Ranjit
Bingh in August 1799 declaring him as his Governor of
Lahare!l Ramiit HBingh had the grace to return his
Ambassador of good will  with a ‘KFhilat®™ and suitable
presents. Ry the end of the same year, Mir Yusaf Ali FKhan,

an agent of the East India Company arrived at Lahore with

presents for Fanjit Singh, the presents were reciprocated in

2
i

a befitting manner. Apparently the British wanted to keep
their doors open to the Sikhs, in case a need arose for any

futuwre cooperation.

The Mawab of Fasw, Nizam-ud-Din, was disappointed to
see Lahore gone out of his hands. He contacted other Sikh
chiefs who too were jJealous of Ramjit Singh's cccupation of
L.ahore. Together, they entered into a coalition to cut
Ranjit Himgh to size. Early in 18200, Jassa Singh

Ramgarhia,Gulab Singh Bhangi of Amritsar, Sahib Singh Bhangi

Bases feses 2mree BONER SEFEs THEIRT SEAUE DI S0a0e SeVer REERE PrUSE $4NEe SEOTE IEESS Peveu GACd TESER FFIET FEE SEUAE SECEs TESET PErES PUTEE FERES SACEE SESOE IPEBE FESEE FOLAE GETET JEESE IESPE G4MOE SELLE SIS TESEE VNG SEGES SELSE TEIET BEEEE 40AE G00Ee THTEE SEOTT SEVEE FGIE SEEET PELGT SECER SEGTL SETNE RIS FEIES SENee Setse Seev mEees

1. Thizs was corrocborated by John Collins, British Resident
at the Court of Daulat Rao Sindhia (1795-18@7) from
Fatahgarh on the Ganga. He informed the Governor General,
"Zamarn Shah is endeavouring to attach to his interests
Ramjit Singh, the usurpuw of Lahore, who has lately received
a2 rich  ‘“FKFhilat®™ from the Durrani prince.” (HR Gupta,
distory of the Sikhs, Volume YV, 1991, p I@).

PSS SeAmR BOeas TmaBs SEGES PSS GODSE CHEE SPeSe GaNNE SHRGE ANees SSee
olosa

2 Ganda Singh, Maharaja Randit Singh A Life Sketch, 1939,
R g
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af Gujirat, Jodh Singh of Wazirabad and Nizam-ud-Din collect-
ed a large force at the village of Bhasin, 1& kms from
lahore f(almost half way between Lahore and Amritsar).
Hanjit GSingh immediately marched forward to meet the chal-
lenge. The opposing forces were still waiting even after two
months, when the sudden death of Gulab Singh broke up the
coalition and the clouds of war dispersed without a clash of
A MS . It, however, forewarned Ranjit Singh on the necessity
af pulverising his opponents at the earliest.Same vear a

son, Fharalk Singh was born to Raj Faur of the Nakai Misl

1
1L

whom Ranjit Singh had married in 1797.

O 12 April 18@1,0on the day of the Baisakhi, Ranjit

3

oto

Dingh was crowed as the Maharaja of Lahore. The Coronation
proclaimed the investiture of sovereignty in the “Sarkar
Fhalsa', & servant of the commonwealth of Guru Gobind Singh.

He did not wear & crown or adopt any ostentations in

OIS E0S BIEIE SHITE CAENT FITEE LESED GEIH BEGPE BPGEY MEESR SELLE BAREN SRS BIRER ERARE AEREN PEASE SREEE FRAGE AEREE SRRRE SERES BOUEE POVSE ROERE FSNEE PRVGE SPANS SEUES USRS SASAE SONE PUSEE EEUSe R890F PONAS SOCEY 10605 PEOLT IGASS 604 S006s TEREE S000s SAAES S060E 20000 SEIRT SS00E SEIGE S00EE 04000 SEEIE TESAE C0GES G0SET SUses Sasde Ceses

i. Ibid, p 8. However, HR Gupta has recorded the date of

h of kKharak Singh in 1802 (HR Gupta, History of the
Vol V, p 53 refers)
hile Bikrama Jit Hasrat, Life and Times of Ranjit

SOmEE SONSE GNAED DRSNS CUGSP BHGS SAGEE SIS SESAS ROREE S0400 CNESE PEREY BEGE SOGRD LEASR SAUR SUSES SIT GNRtE PSS EPIRE REURO SEEES

gh, 1977, p 42 and Ganda 5Singh, Maharaja Ranjit Singh_ A
e
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Lite GSketch, 1239, p.8, state tha fact of coronation of
Maharaija Ranjit Singh. HR Gupta, in History of the Sikhs,
Vol v, 1991, pp.31-32 disagrees and he write=s, "We have not
found any mention of Ranjit &Singh's corconation in any
contemporary  Fersian work or in the records of the Funjab
Htate Archives, Lahore and Fatiala or the National Archives
of India, New Delhi. In the first Anglo Sikh Treaty of 01
Januwary, 18848 Ramjit Singh is called "Sardar”. In the treaty
af Amritsar, 1809, Ranjit Singh is called "Raja" of Lahore.”
In the Indus navigation treaty of 18322 Kanjit Singh 1is
called "His Highness The Maharaja Hamjit Singh the ruler of
the Funjab." Continuing further HR Gupta states "Ranjit
Lingh held a Darhar i 1801, attended by all his
feudatories, Munshi=s and Maulwvis., At this formal gathering
FRanjit Singh proclaimed the assumpticon of the title of

"Sarkar."” There i1is therefore no doubt that FKanjit Singh
held a Durbar and was proclaimed the chief of the chiefs,
call 1t "Garkar FEhalzail" as  he popularly liked to be

called or coronation and the title of "Maharaja’ is only a
nlay of words.
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personal dress., The new coins which the mint at Lahore

produced did not have his effigy or his name. They were in

4
=

zilver and were called Manak Shahi Rupee.

He then organised the administration. He nominated
people, and assigned them the offices of government. Chari-
ties were established. Orders for the repair of the Lahore
fort were given. He did not interfere with the Muslim
pubrlic  and private law. Couwrts presided over by the Q(Qazi

Aand the Mufti were allowed to continue. Prominment citizens

of  the localities were designated "Chaudhris’, responcsible

for the maintenance of law and peace in their areas.

He instituted measures for the collection of revenue
and taxation. "The old system of the taluka or village

incharge of a Banungo, a Chaudhari, a Muggadm, s well

-3
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established in the Funjab for centuries, was continued.”

"Mo uniform method of land assessment was enforced; rather
rules for collection based on prevalent customs and
practices of the region were adopted. These measures,
however , were neither reforms nor innovations, but customary

adoptions of a henevolent ruler to save their subjects from

o'.‘

the extortionate demands of the petty revenue officials.

MATNE 0SES 4EEIG TEPEE BUSED IETSE SUSES JORSE PEAE GHIPE JEISE PAASE SEITE PEEON PIGEE SEPET NG DIEEE SEEES CIUEE TELET S4SIE SEEEE BHSGY SIS TECET SPLGS SEGEE SUCET SHEGL SIS SUIE SEGEE PESPS SSTGE SEEST SHEUS TREIS SETSE S04GE JEESE SIEEP OLET SEOUE FERST DENET 40N SOAIE SonGE SETRE DESEE SRGEE TEDIE SEESE SHIET HEese WEAG SEEes SBEmE SEESS

1. The rupee and paisa were called Nanak-Shahi. They bore
the old inscription of earlier Sikh rupee

Deg-o-Teg—o-Fateh nusrat be darang

Yatt az MNanak Guru Gobind Singh

Fettle (Symbol of the means to feed the poor),

Sword (symbol of the power to protect the wealk and
helpless),

Victory and unhesitating patronage have been obtained from
Nanak — Guru Gobind Singh.

~y

2 For detailed analysis of Revenue administration @: Units
and Functionaries please see Indu Ranga, Agrarian System of
the Sikhs, 1978, pp &3-87.

®esse eNes BIsee S8eet Geee

-

S Bikrama Jit Hasrat, Life and Times of Ranjit Singh,
1977, p 43.
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Ranjit Singh thus got the system geoing thereby bringing
a sense of well being and security amongst the people.

Ranjit Singh was conscicous of the fact that he must unite

and consolidate the Sikh chiefs with him, to enhance his
1

military strength, before he could wage the battles for the
supremacy over the numerous Muslim and Rajput principalities
in the hills and plains of Funjab. It is in the
consolidation of the Misls that the practical genius and
great military acumen of Ranjit Singh stand out, for he

continuously increased his military strength and
~
N 9

simultaneocusly attempted only the possible.

WEBES VONPE SUCST FEPEE SHP0E TOPUT AN FESES SEITE $U00E TEEEE NERES SEAPE SPGES POTEE SRIGR SPIE FEMNO SeRes DNEY TI00E TANES NAGAE PESES 00SE S0000 BEONE SONIN SEAEE SEEGE SO0 S4SES RAGES SESS SLGSE SPESS SRS BAMEN MGAER ASAEs 400 S000s SOEE KEGSE BEGES S4S0e SESEE SESEE KEAES SEIES FESED BOES OIS SESEE SEEEE SREeS SESPC SESES PELGY HEGE

1. The vanquished chiefs and their trained troops had
joined KRanjit Singh’'s army en bloc. Sita Ram kKohli observes,
"It was with the aid of these soldiers of the old Dal FKhalsa
that he (Ranjit Singh) eventually succeeded in subduing the
Muhammadan chiefships of the Central and Western Funjab”.

( Dita Kam Fohli, Foreword to Umdat-ul-Tawarikh, Dattar
ITI, tramslation from Fersian into English by V5 SHuri,
1961, p.xii).

2 "Ambitious -~ highly ambitiocus -~ as the Maharajse HRanjit
Singh was, he was a realist as well. His ability to

accuwrately judge the means he possessed, to encompass an end
20 never to lose sight of his limitations, made it possible
for him to keep a tight rein upon his ambition. Without that
carrective his vision splendid might easily have betrayed
him into adventures that may have hurtled him from the crest
af  conguest into  the abyss of defeat.” [Nihal Singh 1in
foreword to Maharaja Randit Singh (Souvenir on__the first

00es +000n Srtee Gensd seses PEOIE 004 LREVS POGAS FUSES PN TEAEY SEPIE RIAEE WIS SE0ES SOSHE DO PLICE SUBNE GHEid SRS PARSE SPUGE SRS BEPPE BOGIE TITEE TOLEE SRS SRR

century of his death), reprint 1978, pp.ix-x.

esese setes cases
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Misls

The campaign for consclidation of Misls was long and it
was generally won through diplomacy and show of force.
There were no battles of military significance. There were a
few sieges of forts, the headqguarters of Misl chiefs. They
too invariably capitulated in the face of Ranjit Singh's
superior force and his policy of allocation of suitable
Jagirs to the displaced heads of the Misls, with the
prospects of absorption of their troops in his army. Thus by
the time Ranjit Singh finished with the Misls, they had lost
their identity without loss of respect.

The invasions of Ghah Zaman had made FRanjit Singh
understand the strength and weakness of other Misldars and
the precarious position in which their commonwealth had
sunk. He was quick to realise the importance of uniting in
arder to defeat any external enemy, in the East, the British
were advancing and as subsequent events show they ireached
Delhi in 18@3. In the North the Rajput Chiefs were well
entrenched in the hill states all along the lower Himalayas
from Jammu to Fangra; they were not & serious threat but
they were no friends either. In the West and South the
Sikhs were cordoned by two rows of Muslim principalities who
had no sympathy for the Khalsa; infact, they were holding
onto  the apron strings of the KHabul regime. The inner row
formed & curve beginning from Jhelum and passing through
Shahpuw, Sahiwal, Jhang and Fakpattan, it ended at Fasur,
close to Lahore itself. The outer row comprised Fashmir,
Hazara, Feshawar, Rannu, Dera Ismail Khan, Mankera, Dera
Gazi Khan, Multan and RBahawalpur. The ‘Fkhalsa’' of the Misls
under Ranjit Singh’'s ancestors and other Misl chiefs, all

had together wrested the political power in the region from
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the Mughals and Afghans through considerable sacrifice. But
would they be able to maintain this power equation for long
was the question, particularly when each was fighting with
the other. "It was the political sagacity of the young

chief of the Sukarchakia Misl which had fully perceived the
1
delicacy of the situation,” and his answer was that all

"Misls’ must unite. Ranjit Singh like all men of destiny
took the initiative in his own hands. For vyoung Ranjit
Bingh, 1t was a mighty task. However, Sita FRam kohli says,

"Ranjit Singh was proceeding according to a systematic
~

whoee

plan.”

Unification of Misls had to precede the unification of
Funjab and with Ranjit Singh it began by early matrimonial
alliances. He was betrothed to Mahtab Kaur in 178&, which

soon united the two powerful Sukarchakia and Kanaihya

A

.-

Migsls . His mother—-in—law Sada KEaur was already a widow.
Her husband Gurbakhsh Singh was the son of Jai Singh,
founder of the Fanaihya Misl. She lost her husband in 1785,
and father—-in—-law in 1793, GShe became the head of the Misl.
Her territory included Gurdaspur, Hoshiarpur, Atalgarh,
Dasuya, Mukerian and Ratala. Her only child, Mahtab FKaur
was married to Ranjit Singh. After the death of her father-

in-law Jai Singh Kanaihva, she had gained the headship of

FEIEE BONNA AAIR BRI PREGE $EEO0 S0LES TEEEE FEESE TESSe S4RG BEGRD SHEET SEERE E900¢ S00E0 PE40e SO0EE GSN4T Co0NE GESBE EIISY BEGHY BREEE SRRGE 00eT SREGP SECEE SIE0E CEEEE SHEEE SANET MINES S400E SUGP SST0E FREEY PO DESEE SECES SHAAE SRENY PAINE PRGNE PESES SEEEE LIS TETEE SEEET CUONE SEPPE PRI MINER SR SEEET CHPET LEGEY CEeSe RS SHRGR

1. Ditaram FKohli, Foreword to Umdat-Ut-Tawarikh, _Daftar
111, tranmslation from Fersian to English by V8 SURI a
chronicle of the daily diary of Maharaja Kanjit Singh's
reign, 1961, p.XI1. Here-in Sitaram kKohli has raised the
same question, He writes, "how long could the FKhalsa
maintain the political power which their ancestors had
wrrested from the feeble hands of the Mughals and had later
saved 1t, at considerable sacrifice, from going into the
clutches of the Afghans of kKabul 7

. ibid.

S With kanaihya Mi=sl there was one more important
matrimonial alliance made in 1812 when Chand Kaur, daughter
of Jaimal Singh KEanaihvya, and princess Sahib kKaur of FPatiala
was married to Frince Kharak Singh, son of Ranjit Singh.
That, not withstanding when in the same year Jaimal Singh
died, his property and possessions were annexed to Lahore.
The Kanaihya fort of Fathankot was seized earlier in 18@9.
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1
the FKanaihya Misl . Her guidance to Sukarchakia and

Fanaihya Misls at the crucial stage of Ranjit Singh's
growing up and particularly when Funjab was going through
Shah Zaman's invasions i1s indeed commendable. In 1797
Ranjit Singh married Raj KEaur daughter of Khazan Singh the
Nakai chief. Thereafter, troops of Nakai Misl too formed
part of Ranjit Singh’'s forces. Their support was material
in Ranjit Singh’'s capture of Lahore and subsequent march
against the coalition assembled at Rhasin.

In the process of consolidation of other Sikh chiefs
HRanjit Singh did not hesitate to use force. Eut, where

ever possible, he preferred their subordination by stratagem

’ - ! f's ¥
and even false oath. AN A~
& > 4
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Nakai Misl

Ghabe SUGIR DT SONUE VOPIE SEESE SRS PUSNE GLINS SESGP

The possessions of Nakali Misl were South-West of
L.ahore. In 1803 Ranjit Singh seized all the territories of
Bhagwan Singh, brother of Raj FKauwr, and the remaindek
territories of the Nakai Misl were taken possession of in
181@0-11, with it the Nakai Misl was liqgquidated, irrespective
of the fact that Ranijit Singh had married Raj Kaur, daughter

of Sardar Ehazan Singh of the Nakai family in 1797.

SOITE BOPEE GETET GHIEE SETES C00as TDEEE CEVEE TROOE COCET PESTE TBIRE PERSE FNEE BARGA BRI SREED SN SEDEE SO4SE POVEP COEE SECES 1ECEE COTEC $E0UP SENET ABIET SINSE NESLE SEENE SENGE SEGHE SIS SEGNE COOTE GOOE FEAGE $S0TE SOEND SUCEE SOGET SESIP SRAET SESER TENRE MISEE PIEGE SRSTE SESE SRESE SOISS SESPE THIGT SPESE SaP TG TRASE SERES SESES

1. When Jai Singh kanaihya, head of the Misl, died in
1793, the territories of the Misl were first divided into
two parts, one half went to Sada Faur his daughter—-in—1aw,
and the other half to two sons of Jai Singh by another wife,
Nidhan Singh and Bhag Singh. The two brothers further

subdivided their estates. (HR Gupta, History of the Sikhs,
volume V, 1991, p 49 refers).

511265 3




Ahluwalia Misl
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The territories of the Ahluwalia Misl lay in the lower
Jallandhar Doab, and in the Cis-Satluj districts of Ambala,
lL.udhiana, Ferozepur and in a small tract of the EBari Doab.
Fateh Singh Ahluwalia, a relative of legendary Jassa Singh
Ahluwalia, succeeded to the headship of the Ahluwalia Misl
at FKapurthala in 1801. Territorially, militarily and
financially he was in no way inferior to Ranjit Singh.

Ranjit Singh and Fateh Singh met at Tarn Taran. There
in the presence of Guru Granth Sahib they exchanged turbans
and swore to become Tbrothers’. Then they formed an
alliance, offensive and defensive which included three
conditions., Firstly, that the enemy of the one would be
considered as enemy of the other. Secondly, in the course of
their meetings in each other’'s territory they will not claim
any expenses from each other. Thirdly, if they Jointly

conguered any territory, suitable jagir from the same would
1
he given to Fateh Singh .

Soon after Fateh Singh attacked and secured estates and
property from a few of his refractory misldars including
Mehar Singh son—-in-law of Jassa Singh Ahluwalia who had

conscglidated their power and become independent of Ahluwalia

2
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chief . Fateh Singh’'s interest in joining Ranjit Singh was

SEIEE S000C SETEE GEEEE TSGR FUTOE BOEE VSSRE RIS SASES FISEE VEORS SOCEE SOTAE SHIEE THSES TEAEE LN TESES SOCEE PESEE SERES RGNS PASES LESEE SELEE DGR BEESE SRS SUSEE SEGAC THESE TSLEE TEOGS GOSN HEEEA WEEEE SEGUE BEOGE SEGIT CRGES SSSIE SEREE SIOGE TEGEE BEREE SOSES SEEPI SHEAE GEeEY SNIUS GG SAGES GGG LEEEE BHSEE S TEILE SeEeE SPEEE

1. Bhagat Singh A _History of Sikh Misles, 1993, p 735.

CEthp S0ecs WAES BISSE MENNS SRSIR SNESE Rbdan Ctn Chdun SORPP S000E COCEE GIAR SEBID MbSE SEEEE LGN SN MENES Cosse Sedse

2. Bhagat Singh in A _History of Sikh Misls, 1993, pp 70-
71, wites Jassa Singh Ahluwalia had no male child. He had
two daughters one marvried to Mehar Singh and the other to
Mohar Singh. His wife had recommended that he nominate one
of his sons—in—-law to succeed him but he did not agree as he
did not find the necessary qualities of a ruler in any of
them Bhag ©Singh was a close relative of Jassa 8Singh
Ahluwalia he had been shouldering most of the burden of the
administrative affairs of the state. After Jassa Singh's
death in 1783 the GSikhs assembled at EKapurthala on
condolence of Jassa Singh and desired that late Sardar's
elder son-in—-law be appointed the Chief. But Jai Singh
Fanaihya who was friendly to Jassa 0Singh's cousin  Bhag
Singh (born in 1747), managed to get the latter appointed as
the next ruler of the Ahluwalia Misl. Fateh Singh was son
of Bhag Singh.
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to elevate himself equal to the Chief of Lahore, to subdue
his enemies with combined forces, to recover some of his
lost territories and perhaps to gain some new ones out of
those won by his brother by exchange of turbansl. In this
endeavour Fateh Singh succeeded no doubt but Ranjit Singh's
gain was much more. With their combined forces Ranjit Singh
captured Findi ERhattian and Dhani across the Jhelum and
Chiniot close to the East bank of river Chenab.

Having secured his power in Lahore Ranjit Singh was
keen to occupy Amritsar, a possession of the Bhangi Misl.
I+ Lahore was the peolitical capital, Amritsar was the
religious capital and it had religious sanctity amongst the
Sikhs., It was the chief trading centre of Northern India
where caravans brought goods from Central Asia and exchanged
them for the products of Hindustan. In its narrow, winding
stireets were business houses trading in all conceivable kind
of goods; silks, muslins, spices, tea, hides, matchlocks and
aother armaments. Hecause of the wealthy merchants,
subsidiary trades such as those of gold and silver smiths
too were flouwishing. There were a number of localities
belonging to families of note of different Sardars and
Chiefs. Each had his own fortified area and a retinue of
armed tax collectors.

Gulab Singh Bhangi of Amritsar had at one time brought
Fasur under submission and had levied tribute. He possessed
the famous Zamzama gun. He died in 1800, leaving behind his
widow Mai Sukhan and a 1@ vyear old son Gurdit Singh. Ranjit
Singh demanded from Mai Sukhan the Zamzama gun, laying claim

that it belonged to him. His claim was rejected and s0 1in

SPEEE ARG SORES Conthn WERPE PO SeRSE BEGES SEICE SHEEY 50008 BAANE SPPRE S0SSH FNUS VIR HHEES SRSE SESIE HEGSS CEEES MINGE POSGE SOSEE TAE00 CEOCE (HSRE SEGE SES4E FOTOY CHCEE SHUEE SEU0S CEGEE PAPRS GPENE SESEE S0EE COBNE IR CEGET TRMIT SESET PEAME MESGS SOSSE KEEES DINPE SS5N4 SRSES S00ed NEES SESET SEINY BITE CEEER AR ESEe SETEe Seree

1. HFR Gupta in History of the Sikhs, vol IV, 1982, p 46.

SOae Count WNESS Somss wLPES Deces covin COIED WIS BECEE CELEE KESSE SEEDE HMNNS SRNEE CEUWS IHESE GIES SRIRS SEee
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December 1802 Ranjit Singh alongwith Kanaihya and Ahluwalia

1
troops laid siege to the Bhangi fort in Amritsar. Sukhan

and her son escaped and took refuge in Jassa Singh Ramgarh-
ia’'s fort., Her territories and entire property were seized
by Ranjit Singh. Gurdit Singh was given a Jjagir of five
wells., Bhangi Fort at Amritsar called Guila Bhangian, was a
valuable acquisition from which Ranjit Singh acquired five
big cannons including the Zamzama gun. Also Akali (Nihang)

Fhula Singh whose headguarters were at Amritsar (Akal Bunga)

~
ot

joined FRanjit Singh's force. "Akalis were a military

brotherhood who are considered as the peculiar defenders of

B4
.
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the Temple and the Faith.” Fhula Singh had helped Ranjit

POEE S0Use E4ESE S00NE CENEE SIGEN TUEEE THIET EITEE SYCIE SIINE BURES SEANE BESSE GANSI JEASS SEEIE SERSE SESEE TOOEC POTEE SELET CISSS FSEET PISIT PEIEN FOAMC SEvdt TEENE SNA FEGEE PUSEE SOBUS SEIGE SESGE 0GSE SESPT SE4SS SAGEY SEESE FUGES MEE SECEE BAGNS S4Sed SE00 FANE S4S6M SIS SHEEE 4004 10044 COSIT S04 S0LSE S0REE S00Es Secus Secen

1. Nk Sinha, Rangjit Singh, reprint 1975, p 1lé. He writes,
"There is some difference of opinion about the date of the
conguest, of the great BRhangi stronghold, Amritsar. Sohan
l.al ‘s  date is February 1805, The sequence of events which

led to the conquest of the PBRhangian fort is, however,
Clear”.

2. Nihangs were suicide squads of the Mughal army and wore
blue uniforms. The Sikhes took the name and the uniform from
the Mughals., The order is said teo have been founded by one
af the elder sons of Guru Gobhind Singh. The Nihangs were
also known as Akalis (servants of Timeless God). Fhula Singh
was born in 1761, He joined an order of Nihangs at early age
and became the leader of a fenatic band of fighters who
formed the suicide squads of the Sikh armies. Ranjit Singh
owed many of his victories to the desperate valow of the
Nihangs of whom two, Fhula Singh and Sadhu Singh are most
frequently mentioned. They were well known for their devil
may care attitude and their freedom in speaking their minds
even to Ranjit Singh. Akali Fhula Singh was killed in  the
hattle of Naushera (Fir Sabak) in March 1822. (khushwant
Singh, A History of the Sikhs, Vol 1, reprint 1981, p 207,

BECAE SBESE AEIE SIS GOOIR WNUNE PIvEe PIN0E 200U OGSE SOLEL 26CIT NS SEIGE TESGP TESSE WS WPNGD SeNnd BSOS

foctnote 11 and p 21% footnote 9 refers).

R Fiernan writes, "Any person is admitted into this
BEraotherhood, who feels an inclination to Jjeoin it. No
gqualification 1is necessary, but a sanguinary disposition,
and any reinforcement to the bedy, from any religion, or any
caste, is eqgqually acceptable.” (Mictor G Fiernan, MA,
Metcalfes Mission_to Lahore (1808-18@%9) PFunjab_ _Government

BN FUEP MECEE WD SR FOITE IPINE TUNGS HEGE SESNE GEEGE SONES WEERE SOGEE PSR SHEEE HIEER SE0N IERES MISTE REC SECEE LESGE TGLE MBS SISIE SENED LRSS BB AHEEE SINEE VHGEH RSN SIETE WA PETTS SEGGE SEOLT (COLE TUAS APPSR SEEE TEGES DRSS EEAT SENOD SOPEE VHOEE SP0E STRUS DOLE! PGS Gt CUPEs UGBt NOWS SEEOF TMSGS awmes

Record OQffice, Monograph No 21, reprint 19288, p 101).

BEGEt IROGE FHEIN SEINE 000 RERIS SEEIE PIINS JOIeE FIBE WEEs BICP SIS P00 +0000 Geees Savwe Seess sasee seccs SUter SEEEE FPEEE Seume Seues SSen PENNE
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BDingh in getting possession of the Bhangi Fort. The fort was
rebuilt by 18@08-09 and became the treasury of cash and
valuable articles. About 2000 soldiers always guarded it.
Imam—ud-din brother of Fagir Aziz-uddin was appointed its
firset Commandant. Ranjit Singh subseqguently made a grant for

the Harimandir Gurudwara for it to be rebuilt in marble and
i
covered with gold leaf.

The occupation of Amriitsar after Lahore virtually
@liminated the Bhangi Misl. However, Sahib Singh Bhangi of
Gujrat was still active. His territory vielded 1% 1lakhs
annually. He owned 12 forts. He was married to the sister
af Ranjit Singh’'s father. He had made an alliance with Dal
Singh of Akalgarh, and Jodh Singh Bhangi of Wazirabad.
Ranjit Singh had previously confronted these chiefs in 1799-
1800 and warned them not to interfere with him.

Jaodh Singh Bhangi was Sahib Singh’'s son—-in—-law. He
possessed Wazirabad and 200 villages around it. He was
married to the daughter of Sahib Singh Bhangi of Gujrat. In
1802 he was called to Lahore on a friendly visit. But  he
was alert to Ranjit Singh's designs on Wazirabad and hence
the safety of his person. 0On arrival he was received with
great affection. He had 25 attendants with him. He
attended the durbar daily in the Saman Burj while his men
walted outside. HRanjit Singh one day gave a secret signal

AP BEGOT CPE0C CUCHS SSHER $00ES PESUE SUNAN SAGEE BESCE GS0H YRINE GOCY SOSPI FIINT SHALE SOIS PP SENIE CUETE SPGE $EEES IHIES SECGE SEEGE HERE THIGE FEEES TEORY FHEGE S0 COBLS SEGAE FAGSE SOLEE SESEE SRS SETEE SEEEE FESEE PGS SLANE OCE! SEVNE SHETE $008s SUCET AEIEE 0EPT 00000 SEESE SHERE SEGSE S0ERE AT PEREE S000¢ S REGEE Sveee

1. The Gurudwara was re-built during the period of the
Bikh Misles, It was destroved by the Afghans more than once,
and was finally built in ites present form in marble and gold
hy Ranjit Singh. The entrance to the central shrine bears an
inscription to this effect. The inscription states: "The
great Guru in His wisdom locked upon Maharaja Ranjit Singh
as his chief servitor and Sikh, and in His benevolence,
hestowed on him the privilege of serving."
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to his men kept in hiding to make Jodh Singh a prisoner.
Jodh Singh was guick to realise the danger and with his back
to the wall, he got his sword out and challenged the men
closing on him with a full throated veoice: "Come on, vyou
will never be able to capture me alive. I have not learnt
to turn my back on an enemy'. Such courage in full durbar
deeply impressed Ranjit Singh. He rebuked his men and sent
Jadh Singh back with rich presents and additional jagirsl.

In 1809 when Jodh Singh passed away Ranjit 8ingh
immediately reached Wazirabad to confiscate his lands and
property. Sahib Singh Bhangi opposed Ranjit Singh, but he

was defeated. Ranjit Singh then confiscated all of Sahib

3y

ingh’'s property and territory granting in lieu a Jagir of
2

four villages. Sahib Singh died in a couple of months .

Sahib Singh’'s son was already granted a jagir and he

was with Kanjit Singh. Jodh Singh’'s son Ganda Singh too was

..

given a few villages for subsistence .
4
The chieft of Rawalpindi , Milkha Singh Thepurie

(Findiwala) was another Bhangi Sardar. He was prominent in

the region between the Indus and the Jhelum. His wife
supervised the area between Attock and Hasan Abdal. He
maintained cordial relation with Ranjit Singh. Rawalpindi

served as a centre for trade between Afghanistan, Central

CIEBE C0NE SRS SRGIE SEILD SEIGE BINEE TELRE PRI TUSSE SELEE WEGUE PETGE YAGEE SESEM COGEE TEEET 10G0E FESCE TERST TIIEE VORSE GESE SEGEE TEECE SHSEE MG SESGT JEGET ISITE SOSEE WINY SPNIT SLIT PECTE CEIBE BAUIE SASE SHPEE POLE SONNE SEGEP FPRGE SIUES SEAcE TEERE SEIGE FESEE SUPEE SOPET FUSEE OGN PESEE SEERR SEAUE SHAEE Sraes SGSPR PIETE TEETE

1. HR Gupta, History of the Sikhs, vol V, 1991, p 46.

Ses0l Sosen C00ns satEe GRGRS Seen PRI 4N GRENS 4RSS CEEET SALIE SECRD CHDED CHINE NIBE IVBEE SO PP0SY

2. HR Gupta, History of the Sikhs, vol V, 1991, p 47.
Sahib Singh’'s two wives, Daya FKaur and Ratan kKaur, known for
their charm and beauty, were added into Ranijit Singh's
harem. Daya Fauwr became the mother of Kashmira Singh and

Feshauwra Singh. While Ratan Kauwr of Multana Singh.
S ibid.

4. Rawalpindi is 29@ kms from Lahore on the road to
Feshawar.
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Asia, Fashmir and Funjab. On Milkha Singh’'s death in 1804,
his son Jiwan Singh along with his troops  joined Ranjit
Singh. He took part in the Kashmir compaign. When Jiwan
Bingh died in 1815, Ranjit Singh annexed his territory and
incorporated his treoops in the Lahore army and they were
called Dera Findiwala. Some of the other Bhangi Sardars
absorbed by Ranjit Singh were Jassa Singh Bhangi of Chiniot,
Whose territory lay along River Chenab, Budh Singh Bhangi of
Doda in Shakargarh taluka of Sialkot district and FEaram
Singh Bhangl of Jassarwal in Sialkot district.
RDallewalia Misl

The Dallewalia chief, Tara S8ingh Gheiba (171013807}
held considerable tervritory on both sides of river Satluj.
In the Jallandhar Doab he owned Makodar, Dakhni,
Nawanshahar Doaba, Fhillaur and Rahon. Ranjit Singh captured
the parganahes of Ghungrana and Raddowal from one of his sons
in 18804, Subsequently, the Dallewalia chief inspite of being
97 years of age joined Ranjit Singh and fought in the battle
for Naraingarh in 1887. He was wounded in the battle and
died on his way back home. Ranjit Singh sent his troops to
seize the late chief’'s Fort of Rahon and property but the
widow put up a good resistance. Ranjit Singh ultimately
prevalled and annexed all Dallewalia property and territory.

1
It is said that the cash alone was over a crore rupees .
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The Singpuria sometimes called Faizullah-puria Misl,
had its territories on both sides of river Heas including

WEEEE SRS BEIEE TN 96450 S4TEE TETET THENS BOIEE GEIFE PUSE SEAGE CUCEE TETEE 00 SECED TH00S THGEE SANPS CEGEE CBEE TP WAGEE SEAEE BESEE SE4AE SETEE SATEE TRAGE SEAED AESSS HHESE TESER SEOAE TOSEE HHTIE SHCEE SETES SESET SOEE AEPGE SEUE TEREE SHNRE GEGEE PesEe SENET GESRE FEERE SEERE SEUNE $504E FREEE HCET SRS SPPEE CREbT YEREe MRS SEOEE

1. HR Gupta, History of the Sikhs, vol V, 1991, p 48.
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the town of Fatti , all were captured and Budh Singh who had
succeeded to the headship of this misl in 1794, served under
Ranjit Singh in the campaign for Kasur, Jhang and Multan.
However, Jallandhar the headquarters of Singhpuria Misl was
finally annexed in 1811 and Budh Singh was given a small
jagir.

The territories of BRaghel Singh Karorasinghia were on
hoth sides of river Beas, Satluj and Jamuna. On his death in
1805, his parganahs of Sirhalli, Sabraon and Tarn Taran were
annexed. Next vyear the possessions of the three wives of
Baghel GSingh ¢ Hariana near Hoshiarpur of first wife,
Chhalondi in Karnal district of the second wife, and FKalaur
in the same district of his third wife were annexed. Ranjit
Singh left just one village as jagir for subsistence with

each of the ladies.

weses spee sesse JOTIE SAEEE WOEE SOEEE ISEGE PINER SPLEIT SEIEE BEEGs Iemen

Jassa Singh Ramgarhia (1813-1203) had his territories
hbetween the Beas and Sutlej. He had once been the active
member of the coalition called by Maha Singh to defeat Jai
Singh Kanaihva. He had lately partitioned his territories
amongst his son and nephews. He died because of old age in
April 18@%. His son Jodh Singh found it convenient to enter
Ranjit Singh's service., In 1808 Ranjit Singh occupied all

the possessions of the two nephews Rir Singh and Diwan

e
L

Singh . Jodh Singh died in Aug 1815, all his estats and
1. Fatti is &4 kms South-East of Lahore, on the road
l.ahore to Harike—-patan. It was a walled town with brick
huilt houses. This parganah contained 13680 villages. the
fort was close to the town, it was a square enclosure of
bricks with bastions at angles, and surrounded with a mud
wall. It had a stud farm and vielded more than 40@ mares.
After its capture RKanjit Singh entrusted it to Fateh Singh
Ahluwalia for administration.

2 Bikrama Jit Hasrat, Life and Times of _Hanjit _Singh,
1977, p 48.
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property were then seized and about 12 forts of the
1

osen

Hamgarhias were razed to the ground. Thus ended the

power{ful Ramgarhia Misl.

Hanjit Sinmgh was successful in consclidating the Misls,

il

His policy of giving suitable J

1

gires for the maintenance of

{
i

o

the chiefs, the absorption of their troops in the army, the
smployment of erstwhile Sardars of the Misl according to
their inclination, in the army or on administrative jobs,
were measuwres which reduced discontent aftter consclidation,
at the same time 1t built an infrastructure which supported

His rule.

1. HF Gupta, Hi
w4 -0,

the Sikhs volume VYV, 1991, pp
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Hamjit Singh Arbitrates between Maratha' s and British.

Im 1BOZ Hamjit Singh was on his way to Multan. Enrocute
e had stopped to subdue the Jhang chief when he received
information  that Jaswant FHao Hollkar was near Amritsar
closely wrsued by Lord Lake. This was an unexpected
devel opment. He immediately set couwrse for Amritsar  and

simultaneocusly asked other Sikh chiefs to meet him there.

1

Lo Lake was incharge of establi=shing BEritish
supremacy over Marathas in Maorthern India. He had under him
Lieutenant Colonels Ochterlony, BErick and Burne. Ochterlony

was at Delhi, Brick at Fanipat and Burne in the Saharanpur -
1
Musaftfarnagasr area in the Ganga Doabk .

-r

General Lake had two years earlier in 1803, 1in less
than twenty dave routed the Maratha General Ferron’'s army at
Foll near  Aligarh on 29 August. He had then defeated

Hourquien at Fatparganj (Delhi) on 11 September and brought

3
v

Dhah Alam I1 under British protection on 1& September 1803

n
-y
k)
-

HAgra followed on 18 Qctober. Then the battle of Laswari

ended in the annihilation of the whole of the regular forces
£
in Sindhia’'s service commanded by French officers .

* esere wesss susve veess seses eSS S5BES 400N GEcet SORES SUNAR SPOES FEEAS $ASEL SAEAS TEERE ArSsE FINEE FEAMS EEES S60IE shese SenhT BIGEE SESEE BASPP FESL4 SESEE 4GSE SSSLE LESEE BONE SP4er KAIRE UIRGE SOSOE sesse SOTEE SRR BESAE SPEOs MAes FESEE SesBs SEBET PEUIS THEAP SR POSER PSS $E0ed SSeT S0ess Feeve WSese bheee

e HE Gupta, History of the Sikhs, volume VY, 1991, p 204.
. General lLake paid his first visit to the Emperaor in the

afternoon of 1& September 187, marching in state amidst the
Jubiliation of the populace of the capital. in the palace
the scene of his audience with the 'Fing of Fings' @ was
pathetic bheyvond words. As an officer of Lake's army writes:
"The descendant of the great Akbar and Aurangjeb was
found...blind and aged, stripped of authority and reduced to
poverty, seated under a small tattered canopy, the fragment
o f r@gal state and the mockery of human pride”. tJadunath

Darkar, Fall of the Mughal Empire, Volume 4, Repriint 1992,
o 2448, .

e Laswaril {(Correctly called MNMaswari) is on the northern
hank of a rivulet named Baraki nala, 232 Ems East of Alwuar
City.

4 . Az Lake claimed after his victory (Jadunath Sarkar,
Fall of the Mughal Empire, volume 4, reprint 1992, p Z3&6).



A the Rritish found & better foocting i the areas

North of Delhi, Ochterlony in

eenf
0
.
e
i
3
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v 1805 suggested, the

N

whole region be annedsed. Rut Lord Welle=sley in his reply on

132 Januwary, 18@Q% inftormed Ochterlony that he should not plan
H

annexation of the whole Cis-Satlul region at hat stage .

) rt

However, finding strategic importance of Farmnal and 14 need
he, for 1t to serve as an advance military post of the

British 1in the Morth, it was captuwred by Burne on 14 April

s
]

18@%5.

In February, 1804 Lord Lake had warned Bha Singh of

Y 3
Jind and Bhanga Singh of Thane=sar against joining the other
@ikh Sardars who were indulging in anti-British activities
£

i the Ganga—-Doab. In the course of more than one vyvear, by
June 1885 seeing for themselves the progress of British
arms, almost all the Sikh Sardars of the Cis-Satlui region
ad  tacitly agreed to remsin on friendly terms with the

Hritish Government.

Same  vyear Jaswant Rao Holkar after his defeat in the
second Anglo-Maratha war had fled to Rajasthan to seel help

from Rajput princes. Having failed in thi

in

attempt, he
tuwrned towards the Cis-Satluj Sikh chiefs., Helbkar had with
Mim about 12,000 cavalry, 200Q infantry and 20 guns. He was

accompanied by Amir Fhan, Fathan adventurer and well Eriown

=
\‘“'

Findari leader.

SESL Sese B40Es Ssste LEULE BEee S00se Teses BPre BEPTS PEVEC IRGUN SECEE Geves IEANE FEETE TEELE PEONE SIS FUINN S0Aae SEIEE SEEDT FEIEE IRIEE CECUT SAASA SEEEE SEERE SAGHE BECEL IR0SS FOTEL USISE GASNE G40 SeAE BHCTT SEGSE IRAGE SECET E0CHE SHET SETLL SEEEE PITE VIAEE FETES SPTS WAVt WSEs Teser Dedas Serve FPE fa

1. HE Gupta, History of the Sikhs, Volume YV, 1991, p Z204.

. Farnal occuplied a central place among Sikh cis-Hatluj

astates. It lay &0 kms from Kaithal, 1880 bkme from Jind, 8@
Ems from Ambala, 9@ kms from Fatiala, I35 kms +from  Thanesar,
ao kms from Shahbad, 125 kms from Delhi and 75 kms  from
Meerut. A military force placed here could easily check the
crossing of river Jamuna by the Sikhs into Ganga-Doab, as
also, keep a check on Sikh chiefs and restrain RHanjit Singh.
e HE Gupta, History of the Sikhs, Volume V, 1921, p Z20@5.
4. ibid, p Z@4.

i Ihid, p Z2@G.

®roen Shean durbs Bhbes



Lake was in Delhi in October 1805 with five regiments
of cavalry and four battaslions of infantry. He had set out
in pursuit of Holkar. Enroute he stopped to meet Sahib Singh
at Fatiala. Thereafter, Bhag Singh of Jind guided Lake and
together they crossed Satluj at Ludhiana.

The information which made Ranjit Sinmngh abandon his
march on Multan, was none other thanm Holkar's effort to
reach to him and =seolicit his support, for ann alliance
against the HBritish. An alliance for which the Rajputs  and
the Cle—-Satlu] chiefs had already turned adown Hils

1

avertures.

Fanjit Singh =zent his emissaries to both the partie

W

with his good wishes and usual presents. While he occupied

Mimeeld in assessing his own situation with Sada Faur, Fateh
wingh, his Generals and court officials. His western

frontier with Afghans was not secure; Feshawar, Multan and
Fashmir were not yvelt conquered. Close by FKasuww was subdued

bhut not yvet annexed and Sansar Chand chief of FHangra was &

3

[N

constant irritant. Hie own army though a cohesive force

had & lot more to learn, equip and organise. Holkar too in

i discussions  with anjit  Singh had conveyed this
1. HRE Gupta writes, "Major General Dodwell =zerving under
l.ord Lake zent a letter drafted by hise political assistant,
2 vear old Charles Metcalfe, warning FHaja Sahib  Eingh  of

Fatiala agsinst supporting Holbkar. Sahib Singh wazs  already
fed-up with evcessive demands for money by Holkar. He
persuaded Holhkar to seelk help from Maharsjs HRHanjit  Singh.
Frowing that British forces were advancing in pursult of
tim, Holkar raized his camp and crossed river Satluj on 13
Movember, 18@%." (HR Gupta, History of the SHikhes, volume V,

o o - . erors BEGIE SLD SENIN SANSS BESGS Pisee SaSEP Sestn SERAE Fesbs SHiad Sheks Peeee
"3 seny
B L]

1991, p 207, refers=s).,

”

2 Fasur was annexed by Ramnjit Singh in 18827 and Fangrs
fort was occupied in 1280%.
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Lmpressi on thus Fe-intorcing Harjit Simgh's OwWn
i

apprehensions on this score. Theretore Ranjit Zingh could

i1l afford to take sides and make Funjab a theatre of war

for the Dritish and the Marathass, to =zettle their score.

While Ranjit Singh was independently making up his own mind,
L.ord  Lake 1n a despatch to his superiors was writing, "1
resolved to occcupy a pesition on the south bank of the Heas
at a distance of about 35 Miles from Amritsar, and 45 Miles
fraom Ludhiana, which while it secured my supplies, was
likely to give Ranjit Singh contidence to oppose Jaszwant Rao

Holkar or at all events to deter him from embracing the

"
Lo

cause of that chief". Rarmjit Singh held & council of
the Gikh confederacies that still depended upon him  for
advice or support. It wa=s unanimously resclved in this
council, that the Chief of Lahore amnd the Sikh nation should

interpose as medliator between the fugitive Maratha Chief and

L
1

.
—oe

the British Government. Hol kar then sued for peace. Ranjit
Dingh deputed Fateh Singh Ahluwalia to negotiate and &

treaty was concluded between Holkar and the East India

company by which Holkar renocunced all his possessions  in
4

Northern India.

WEONT KAGSS SEOI0 BEael SRIEE Beree tedad TETAA SETHO TSI RETEE FAPRS NESEE PEEP TEESE SEEEP EEUR FACKE PAGEE TETEE GICEE BEGSE BEAUE SEIES SCEEE SOSEE SEILE SPGvs PRGNS SE0SE BOSET TEEUC WEGE KAESS BESEE G004E DETEE FETRL HEESS SEGEE SIEES SETEE SIBAS FNEE FEEGT SECOE SHTES SASES SHRGA HEEs TRTSE $000¢ SETES EGHE FRUBE SESEs FSSEE SREEE BEERE bawew

1. Ramjit ©Singh in disguise had seen for himself the
HEritish Army in their camp near Reas. (Fhushwant Singh, A
History of the Sikhs, NVNolume I, reprint 1981, p 212 fotnote

WESUs HIPEE PEYEs S000E 0000 Peees 000e soses vee

=

=y and p 211 footnote I refer=s). About British military
camp, Latif writes, "Thousand of people assembled on  the
hanks of the Heas, to gaze upon the RBritish troops with
wonder. Their eyes were unftfamiliar with the =sight of a
Hritieh military camp, its white soldiers (goras) dressed 1n
their military cozstume. Their warlike mus=sic, in the
stirictest discipline was ohserved. Not a grain of wheat was
taken without payment; no man, however small or insignifi-
cant, was molested:; no work, however trifling, was forced
wupon the people without the payment of liberal wages... The
most scrupulous regerd was paid to the property of the
inhabitants, and as &ll =upplies were punctually paid for,
the British troops wanted for nothing that the country could
produce. (Mubammad  Latif, History of the Funjab, reprint
1294, p 363 .

2. Decret Consultations 19

Ze Muhammad Latif, History of the Funiab, reprint 1994, p I635.
4, Ibid.

ansr sesss peses sssss



On January 1, 188046, Ranjit Singh and Fateh Singh
Ahluwalia signed a treaty of friendship and amity with the
mast India Company, undertaking to "cause Jaswant Fao Holkar
to remove with his army to the distance of thirty ‘“Eoss'
from Amritsar immediately.” In retuwrn, the company undertook
to remove its encampment on the RBeas. The Company further
eipressed lasting friendship towards Ranjit Singh and Fateh
Dingh  az long as they abstained from holding any 1friend1y
connection with the enemies of that (ie., the British?

government.

Bikrama Jit Hasrat is of the opinion  that, "Maharaja
took the wisest course and saved his infant kingdom from
i

certain destruction by declining toc assist Holbkar."
However , Sohan Lal Suri in his couwrt diary, Umdat-ut-Tawarik
has recorded that "the Maharaja’' s decision was disagreeable
to the bDardars and Generals, who murmered amongst themszelves

that their roval master had broken faith, and had &llied

i+ the

0

Mimeseld with the hated firangis, who were the enemies

-
Faith.,”
All =said and done RHanjit Singh must have been pleased
‘~
to get rid of the two foreign armies from his s=sc0il, for
after their departure he had time to pay attention to the

Hal amar

(1]
11

enviranse of Lahore. He ordered the repair of
gardens and the canal of Ali Mardan Fhan, which watered

"4

them., This restored th arden

T
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meglected

1

]

and  1mproved

the adjoining lands, vielding an increased revenue.

PEEST MUNE SETUD FEE0E SHIAS SIPSE TISUE #POES POIEL S2004 SREET PeeEr SESES THIAS S0REE GRANE $EOEE BESSR SEIRS FEIAY UNES

3
1
3
H
b
H
!
1
H
H
H
!
!
{
i
H
H
}
i
H
i
i
]

1. Bikrama Jit Hasrat, Life_ and Times of Hanjit Sin;gh,
1277, p 7Q.

=y Soban Lal Sweil Umdat-uf-Tawsrikh Datter 11, pp 57-00.
Dia Mubammad Latif, History of the Funjeb, reprint 1994, p
YT
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It was Ranjit Singh'=s= obhjective that this Fathan

wrtil its  final capture. Being = close 1t prrovided
intelligence to Afghan’'s on the goings on in Lahore and  at
the time of war it could become & +irm base for the
AQOrEssnr .,

Fasur was situated &8 khms South of Labhore, 1t was an
agaregate of twelve fortified villages, each forming =a
separate Kot o fort and having & different name. Following
Famjit SDingh's occcocupation of Lahore the Fathan chief Mizam-
td-din of Fasw in 18090 had joined the coalition formed at

Bhasin to oust Ramijit Singh from Lahore. Ever since

-t
“+

hecame & seat of intrigue agsinst Ramiit Singh's rule.

AR sometime i 1881 the Fathan chief had joilned hamds

with Sahib  Singh  Bhangd of Guirat  and both  had  openly

iz

raveol ted, Ramjit Singh had then marched to Guirat and forced

F ) . oa .
abhii b

3
4
i
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to submit, while he =zent another force under

Fateh Dingh Falianwala against Haswr. The Fathan Chief’'=

ut were forced to retreat and take shelter in a fort insid
the Lown. The Sikhsz bhe=zieged the town. Qe gst ot the

fort was blown off., Mizam-ud-din sued ftor pesce. He accepted

R

Famjit Simgh ' = szurerainty and agreed to pay tribute.

Im  182Z Ramjit Singh was occocupied in reducing Chiniot
when the Fathan chief of Fasw rasided & few villages of the
Lahiore  Darbar. O receiving information, HFHanjit Singh

despatched Fateh Singh Ahluwaslia to punish  the Fathans.

4 tessn saues ssnes vasre

i
i
§
!

1. In April 17&% & complaint was made to Hari Singh
Hhangi of Taruma Dal, asgainst Usman Fhan of Fasw  who had
zeized the beasutiful wifte of one of the Hindus and converted
Her to Iglam§ the city was burnt by the KHhals
Targe guantity of gold an into the hands of
! ard all bhbecame
;

the Si ke History oF the

nene

= i1
LI O i W e TT Lowe e Jpge . 1O 4 h)
Hikhs, Volume 11, 1992, p 19& 2
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Harmjit  Singh  =soon joined him and in a pitched hattle the

chief  of Fazur was repulsed. He sumitted and paid a heavy
fime., Hame  year Mizam-ud-din was  assassinated  and  was
zucceeded by his brother Outbh-ud-din Fhan.

Gutb--ud-din  began to recruit fresh troops an colle
arms and ammunition. He believed that the icint
Muslim rulers of Bahaswalpur and Multan when combined with
the =support  of FEahual

regime were suftficient to  overthrow

Harmjit Singh. The Lahore Durbasr on learning of
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despatched Fagir Gziz--w
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much measwwres bhut kb

comntinued with his activities,

B

Hanjit Dingh then decided that AT independent

b

‘0‘0

principality so clozse to Lahore was no longer acceptable. He
led an exspeditiocon against Kasur i 1207, Some noctable
commanders  with Ranjit Singh were Jodh Singh Hamgarhia  and
Akalid FPhula Singh. The Fathanes took shelter in their forts.
Cutbh-ud-—-din  was besieged. For one month  bombardment  and

whirmishes continued, then & breach was made i the fort

o o, [ s g o, oS - . \ s, poo, oo, I .
wall and Fhula Singh and his Mibangs charged inside. Cath -

o
3
i
0
3
-
3
=
L

wd-din was captured. Fasuw was annexsed in P

square khms, houth Cf satlui  on payment of & fixed
trihute, He was alzo to serve at the head of 102 horzemen
whenever called upon to do =so.

Once the Sikh Misle were consolidated and his immediate

-

el ghbowrhood of FHasur secuwred, FHanji
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attempt and bhring the Ois-Satluj chief
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1. HE Gupta, Histors

igtory gf the Sikhs, YVolume V, 1791, pp 71~
A
R O
ey Ibid.
2. Ibid, p 7Z.
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Clis-Gatlu]

I his objective of unificatiocn of Funjab Ranjit Singh
lad included the Cis-Satluj region. As he advanced s=socuth
wairde,, some Cis-Satlul chiefts survrendered, over-awed by his
army. Others, as at MNMaraingarh clozed the gates of the ftort

rly to be reduced after a ziege. Hanjit Singh crossed  the

r‘i'

satliui three times. Me had then not rechkorned with the ever

increasing interest of the British in the region and =0 1n

m

late 13@8 the two matian
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the Treaty of Amritsar of 128079 and exclu=sion of Ois-EBatluj

3]

regian from the scon to he unified Funjab.

-

i

Hanjdit Singh s actual march intoc Cis-Sstlul region
bhegarn 1 128845 when Bhag Singh of Jind called hi=zs nephew

Hamjit Singh to settle a dispute between Mabha and Fatiala

r
L

any
®e
1
.

aver the village of Duladhi, situaste Fms from MNabha.

i

HRanjit Sinmgh readily accepted the invitation and crossed the

matlul accompanied by his principal Sardars and & strong

army contingent. This was the beginning of Ranmnjit Singh's

o
i
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AMEAalgr. He restored the disputed village

Duladhi  to Jaswant Singh of Mabha and levied an  indemnity

r,,]

iy ahib Singh of Fatials. He then marched to  Hailkot

J1
2
£

widows of el

'

ousted the Muhammadan FHajpub family, the

Ilvas, two ladies Mur-un-niss and lLachmi,; whose family had
held 1t for about  two hundred years. They Were glvern
1. Mamdot easrlier belonged to Hae Kalha of Haeshkot. I
18280 Nazim-ud-din and his brother Gutbh-ud-din of Fasw had
conquered  1t, with the a=ssistance of the "Dogars’, &
tuwrbulent Muhammadan tribe inhabiting the district. Mamdot
remalned  with Maharaja Ranjit Singh, even after the treaty

af Amritssr i 189, {lepel HW Griffin, The Funjab Chiefs,

Lg‘.—.‘u.. 5 ;:.‘ 5""4: }



zmall Jagirs for thelr maintenance . Their pos=sessions  of

Ludhiana, Jandiala, Jagraon, Talwandi and the neighbouring

. : K I T ; e e o3 £ 0 e : :
areas were distributed by Ramijit Singh amongst his chiefs
I‘"
'

Simgh of lLadwa, Baszawa Singh and Bhagel Singh of Thanesar,
Garbha  Singh  and others to follow 1in his  brain . Fanjit
Singh remasined in the Ois-Batlul region from  July to

Movember 180%&5 and was flattered by the subservience of the

LT e 8 ' o L
Llm-matlug ohiets.
Griffin save, "the British tock no chances, they

strengthened the Farmal gasrriscon in case Ranjit Singh should

erter the district in force, But FHamijit Singh had no owilsh
L ]
b b fFerd the HEritish, arnd there WE S ahurndant territory

rroceeded no furbther south than Ambhalas and  Thanesar. He

retivred northwardes?”

T e g, -1 . - / - \ -

The following year (1827 amother inwvitation followed,
! . e - — por, o - - - R Lund s - ;<
Ehis b1 me fraom Hamid fAus Faur ot Fatial ;. She wanted F::iﬁ_}lt

=Simgh to intercede o her behaldt and that of her infant SO
Faran Singh o owith her husband, Raja Sahib Singh. Famjit

Singh readily agreed and crossed the Satlui with his  army.
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1. Bikrama Jit Hasrat, Life and Times of Ranjit Singh,
1977 pp 7172,

9y

o . Lepel H Griffin, The Rajas © s reprint 1927@,
pe8. Also see p 72, foolt note = ama Jit Hasrat,
bife and Times of RHanjit qlngh, 19?., For actual
distribution of territories to chiefs nlease see HR  Gupta,
HlﬁtDFk of the Sikhes, volume YV, p 84.

R Lepel H Br1€$1n‘ The Rajas of the Funjab, reprint 197@,
pp 82683,

4. Lepel H Grittin, The Hajas of the Funjab, reprint 197@
-

ur:.t.,i b
-

R

~ F*

- s asese seves - pavom

p 874%, quoting Resident Delhi t fficer Commanding at

Farnal, dated 1@ November 18054, fficers Commanding at
Meerut, FHarnal, Rewari and Saharanpur to Resident Delhi,
dated Zrd, 4th, Sth, 12th of MNMovember 1804,
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He settled the dispute and collected a large sum of money
and Jewels and a brass gun named ‘Fara Fhan' as his reward
1
from Rani Aus Faur .
Harmnjit Singh then marched towards Maraingarh and laid a

zliege to the fort. It swrrendered only after a deliberate

assaul t, irn which Fateh Singh Falianwala was mortally

wounded. This tervritory was made over to Fateh Singh

Ahluwalia. FRarmjit Singh then encamped at Shahabad, where

the family of late Faram Singh, & relative of FRajs of
~

Fatial & WAS disposezsed . FRanjit Singh =elzed the

territories of the Dallewalia chief in the Doabk and almost
all the territories of the Mishanwalia Misl. Ghumgransa,
Morinda in Sirhind, Zira, Kot Eapura and finmally Dharam kot

were also seized. The Maharala, however, retained very

little of these conqgquered territories. The spoils were
distributed among his ocwn followers and the Cis-Satluj Sikh
Chiets . Amongst  others, Raja Bhag Singh of Jind, Rajas

Jaswant Singh of NMabha and &

)
-t
i

rdar Gurdit  Singh  of  Ladwua
received a share of the spoils; on the other hand FEaja of
Fatiala, received no share. Subsequently in Maroh 12088

Riwan Mohbkam Chand, Ranjit Singh' = Genersl, captured Fatoki

arnd  part of Wadhni, these were assigned to Hanil Sadas  Faur,

mother—in—-law of the Maharaja for an annual  payment  of
4

15, Q00 rupees.

1. Bikrama Jit Hasrat, Life and Times of  Hanjit _Singh,

1977, p 73.

2 . Im a letter witten hy Haja Dahib Singh to Mr Setong,

the EBast India Company = RHesident at Delhi: asz & zeguel to

Mis meeting with Ranjit Singh at Lakhnawr (siltusated between

Ambala and Fatiala). This Farticulasr incident finds mention

gz the basis of Hajas Sahib Singh s apprehensions{lepel H

Griffin, The Hajas_ of the Funjab, reprint 1978, p74).

o For actual distribution of territories to Chiefts during

the Second eqspedition in 1B8@7, pleasse sese HE Gupta, History

gf_the Sikhs, VYolume VYV, 1991, pp 24-20.

4. Bikrama Jit Hasrat, Life and Times of Haniit Singh,

1977 pp 7I3-T74,
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o FHamjit  Singh  was

at the grest granmndfather of Sahib Singh of Fatiala in 17461
by submitting to Ahmad SThah Durrani had  alresdy  =set the
molicy, o gasin money and territory by remaining loyal first
to Delhi and ater to Fandhar, while &11 the time keeping

bhe Dal Fhal=sa on his side. At the co

powers, the Mughals, the Durrani and th
1

muilt his power step by step .

cerntury

Blmost half

oo

et e & S1 bk mation from Jamuna to

Hamjit  Singh wa=s thwarted in the Cis-Lb

designs of the Fhulbkian Sardars. These
long to percelve that the military stre

ard their

to  =send & deputation to Delhi i Mar

Meld a meebting w
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RDelhi and pre e detalled memorand

the Hritish

az the sovereign power and eqpected to
Familt Dingh. The resident forwarded

oo Gian Hingh, Twarikb Ourw Khalsa. !
. Bibkrama Jit Hasrat, Lite and Times
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L.ahore Da
Mol kar  had grossed  the Heass in 1805, Ranjit Singh  fearing

Sows  sess  ames sese et

ritish designe over hiszs domain, bad then, muggested the

river  Datluj as the houndary  between the two states.
Hh s e oo poee [ . -, oo, g, o, 3 TS g e oo e, .y see, e e b pese gons ves, . oo . .
Mei ther Lake nor the Governor General had tabken any notice

of this suggestion. Their =z=ole ohject then was the annihil-

ation of the Marathas; once that was achieved, the Roard of

RDirectors of the bast India Company (whioch had been  bhrought
to the verge of banbkruptoy by the Marathas campasigns? 1=sued

imstructions
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Ay morre wars and to consider the river  Jamuna &= the

£y 1ot of water had fFlowed down the Satlui =since then.

e, pose, goos JORO S S (3 e -, s - - . S WO vt S e, yose, voc, - as, goos . —
When  Ranjit Singh learnt of the Samansa conference, he set

abrout  to placate the Cis-Satlul chiefts. He called them to

Ry JRL I YO N JOE W
Amri tesrr, The delegat
non commital answer by the Resident at Delhi, considersd 1t

more prudent not to offend the Maharajs and =0 when called

H
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t
i
t
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i
:

1. While the idea of sending & i
Lahicore was being mooted early i 188282, when
received that Ramjit Singh might come to |l
the Ganges." ...the instructions given to Metos
accasion also show cleasrly the British o
northern frontier. He was ordered "to pr
of the Jamuna and wailt for the arvrival of
O the retuwn jouwrney he was to accompany
the ritish fromtier” which was again

Jamuna. (Secret consultations 24 of 11.4.1808 refers).
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im they readily obhliged. Famjit
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honowed  them with many presents and promise
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ztone wuntwned to assure them = quoodwill. In =uch &an

i

#nvironment  the COis-Gatluj territory between Satlui  and

Jamuna )

mn

came the "'no-mans land , for the British at  Fort

H

William and Sarkar Fhalsajli at Lahore.

Unlike Ramjit Tingh whose interests and apprehensions,

m

in 1888 in all probability did rnot estend beyvond Calcutts or

Flabuwl o the British on the other hand wer

m

& world power with
territories extending over bBEurope, America, Africa and A=sia.
They were al=z=g then at war with Framce. Though the British

were  contident of theilr =supericority at sea, yvet on land,

0y
o
st
m
L

=
Hi
H
1

distinct threat. The treaty of Til=sit i July
1827 between Mapoleon and Czar Alexander 1, creasted a chance
possibility of & French march to India and hence could b

regarded as the precipitating factor in Ranjit'=s relatiocns

wven though the Uourt of Directors and the Fresident of
bhe Hoard of Control of the bDa=st India Company i London had

heern  asked by the Home Government to direct its  Governor
eresral 117 India to maintain & non-eqapansionist posture,
w»tilly Lord Minto who succeeded Uornwaliz= and Rarlow found sz
oo enguses i the Mapoleon phobis of his  countrymen 1o
revveres bthis polioy. Farticularly, atter he received &
wWarming  issued by the Home Government, to tabke immediste
s e e b o s likely Fremch maroch overland through the fA=ia
L. MED Dinha, Hapiit Dingh, veprint 1975, pp 2425
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Miroyr  and Fersia  intoc Indila. Comseguently, diplomatic
Nl SElons were despastched to Lahore, Fabul arnd  Fer=ia,
eelking treatiez of friendship and joint defence.
ute Mirmto dezspatched Metcalfe ' = Mizzion to the court
3
foe
ot Harnjit  Singhe Erroute o 22 August 1842, Faja Dabiib
mingh offered the kevs of Fatiala fort to Metcalfe and ashked
r
o
Him to give them hack as & gift of the Hritish government.

Labhiore,

Metoalfte presented his letter of credentiasles to Fanjit
Dinghy oo 18 September 1282, nesr Fazur. He  informed  the
e, Poov, goos, . T vee ypme Lo e - - - .
Lahore  Darbas that the Frenoch were trvying to establish

themnselves 1 Ferszia and had de=zigns on Fabul and the

Funjab. He proposed that in the intereste of &all the
L.
e

ztates in thi=s guarter, they =should unite in defence.

1. Dince Lord Minmnto's arrival in India i July  18@7,
reportes of  French intrigues in Fersia sent by Sir  John
Malcolm, the British Ambassador in Fersia had alarmed the
Indian Government. Malcolm reported to the Home Government
the shady dealings of the Fremnch embassy in Tehramy; and the
proposed march of the French armies through the Asia Minor
and Fersia. The Home Govermnment believed these reports  and
the French menance as a positive threat to the safety of

1

Hritish possessions 1in India. In September 1807, the
Hecret Committee directed the Indian Government to take

immediate steps to counteract the supposed menace. (Bikrama
Jit Hasrat, Life and Times of Ranjit Sinpgh, 1977, pp 88-21).
e CT Metcalfe waz the first fAssistant to the Hritish
Fesident at Delhi. He was fully acguainted with the local
problems of  the government, and had received practical
training in the Wellesley School of diplomascy and politics.
Though young(Zll yvears of age) he was considered capable to
conduct  negotiations with Ranmjit Singh leading to a treaty

af  triendship on British terms (HR Gupta, Historm cf the

Soate seees suvar reett Prear seoss Vo Petes sovat seese seees sesen

H

-

SDikhe, volume YV, 1991, p Z229).

3
. ibid, p =25@.
1

. Victor G Fiernan, Metcalfe' s Mission to Lshore,
Monograph Mo 21, Language Department Funjab, reprint 1988,

np 1214,

“{' n .r. g.:}. } C_i_ i
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The Lahore Sarkar agreed to the British proposals  and
i tuwrn asked specifically that the British Government
should recognize Lahore’'s sovereignty over the Cis-Satluld
el on. Eut  "Metcalfe prevaricated till the Maharaja’'s
patience was exhausted. He ordered the breaking up of camp

llow him 1+ he cared tao do so',

.
e

and asked the envoy to f
Harnjit Singh then crossed the Satluj and launched his troops
i the campaign of subjugasticon and collection of tribute
fram remaining principalities left out sarlier in the Cis-
ratlui region. Famjit Singh was chvicusly edercising his
right  as sovereign of &1l Sikh=s, and he wanted to leave no
doubzt about  Lahore Darkar s authority in the mind of the
Hritish snvoy following in his train.

It appear=s, the British at Fort Hillism were debating

i their own council the advantages of friendship of Lahore

'

. .
Sar bar wisa-w

if

the military ococcocupation of Ciz-Satluj

H
3
g
o
-
H
i
%S
~
-1
™
LR
“0
i
"'i
i

ince theily ccocupation of Delhi, they needed
A butter zone to defend it. A bhorder with lLahore Garbasr
along Satluj three hundred bEms in the North, permitited
erough ground for mancesuvre o

space for movement of armies, Lo oppoase any  invader along

. It iz clear from what Metcalfe wote that Ranjit
@ingh s surerainty aover  the Ols-Satlul states  was =3
accomplished +act and, 14+ hisz goverrnmend really  desired
HRanjit ' = friendship. they should recogrnise that saovereignty.
The only thing that bothered him was the position of the few
chiets of the region who had mot ovet submitted to Hamjit's
wverlordship. I+ his government gave Hamjit unconditional
recognition 1t would bhe forcing some unwilling people into
iz armes. 4 1t made recognition conditional on hils ability
to bhring them into his fold, it would be sncowraging him Lo
commit  aggressicon. Metcalfe & mind was obsesssed with  the
maact  wording of the recognition, mot with 1ts  substance.
(Mictor O Mierman, Metcalfe' s Missicon to Lahore, Monograph
Mo 21, Language Department FPunizb, reprint 1922, o 28).
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The rough winds which were blowing from near and middle

least c¢hanged for the better by January 1809, Hecau

in
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circumstances favouwred an Anglo-Ferszian and an Anglo-Turkish
understanding. The treaty of Dardanelles was concluded

Between Hritasin and Turkey in January 1882, and an  Anglo-

-

Hersil an alliance +oll

swed i March of  the same vear.
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Risings in Spain had begun in the middle of 1808, Thus the

pozition in the Middle East had eased sufficiently encugh to

i

make the Governor General feel that 1t was no longe:
1
mecessary to coax the Lahore Fing into an alliance and  on

the chess board extending from BEuwrope to India, the Cis-
L]

il

Datlu] pawn was after all rmot required to bhe sacrificed.
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£

inha, Manjdit Singh, reprint 1975, p 25.

. Metcalfe' = Earlier reports about Ramjit Singh’'s third
incuwrsion across the Satlud had created a sharp reaction at
Calcutta, and & claim to British paramountcy over the Cis-
matlul region had been examined by the Governor-—-General-in-
(Council and a policy of active intervention in the affairs
of Cie-Satluj states had been resclved upon. It was realised
that British interests could be best promoted by the
reduction, if ot the entire subverszion of Fanjit Singh's
[3OWET . Thi= momentous decision was taken by the Government
o f India early i Octobher 1208, Lord Mimto in His
dezpatches had convinced the Home Government that even
without reference to the French menace the approximation of
Rarmjit Singh' = aggressive militariem and hise domination of
the region between the Satluj and the Jamuna would disturb
the security of British possessions. FRamjit &Ingh, he

pointed out, was & Fformidable military despot, whiose
ambitions knew no bhounds, and vyet he was aware of the power
oaf the Hritish Government,; and he would not afford a rupture

i
with it. It would, therefore, he full of advantage to depart
from the principle of the limitation of the Company’'s
frontier at the Jamuna and prevent Hamjit Singh from

eatending hie dominations. Consequently, 1t was decided to
e terd Irl'"gh crotection to the states south of the Satluj
and  demand  from the Maharajs the immediaste withdrawal of
L.ahore armies to  the other =side of the ~ 1V ET ., The Home
Government readily approved the Governor-General "= cour=ze of
action. (Bikrama Jit Hasrat, Life and Times of Hanjit Singh,
1977, pp 83840,
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